# The Costs & Benefits of Accommodating Growth in Different Forms of Settlement Pattern – a Literature Review

# **Final Report**

Nick Green

John Handley

with contributions from:

Susannah Gill, Phillip Bell, Adam Barker, Mark Baker

Centre for Urban & Regional Ecology

University of Manchester

January 2007

## **CONTENTS**

1	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	5
	1.1 THE BOTTOM LINE	5
	1.2 Many Issues are 'Wicked Problems'	5
	1.3 URBAN INFILL – KEY POINTS	5
	1.4 URBAN EXTENSIONS – KEY POINTS	6
	1.5 KEY VILLAGES – KEY POINTS	6
	1.6 BALANCED GROWTH – KEY POINTS	7
	1.7 New Settlements – Key Points	7
	1.8 Key Messages for Policy Makers	7
<u>2</u>	INTRODUCTION	9
	2.1 PREAMBLE & COMMENTARY ON PROJECT BRIEF	9
	2.2 THE CONTEXT	10
	2.3 A NOTE ON WICKED PROBLEMS	10
	2.4 METHODOLOGY AND STRUCTURE OF THIS LITERATURE REVIEW	11
_	UDDANINGUL (UNTENOIGIOATIONI)	4.4
<u>3</u>	URBAN INFILL ('INTENSIFICATION')	14
	3.1 DEFINITION	14
	3.2 Urban Infill – Economic Criteria	15
	3.3 Urban Infill – Social Criteria	16
	3.4 URBAN İNFILL – ENVIRONMENTAL CRITERIA	17
	3.5 URBAN INFILL – DISCUSSION	18
	3.6 URBAN INFILL – KEY POINTS	19
<u>4</u>	EXTENSION OF EXISTING URBAN AREAS	21
	4.1 DEFINITION	21
	4.2 Urban Extensions – Economic Criteria	21
	4.3 Urban Extensions – Social Criteria	21
	4.4 Urban Extensions – Environmental criteria	21
	4.5 Urban Extensions – Discussion	23
	4.6 URBAN EXTENSIONS – KEY POINTS	23
<u>5</u>	'KEY VILLAGE EXTENSIONS' APPROACH	24
	5.1 DEFINITION	24
	5.2 KEY VILLAGES – ECONOMIC CRITERIA	24
	5.3 KEY VILLAGES – SOCIAL CRITERIA	24
	5.4 KEY VILLAGES – ENVIRONMENTAL CRITERIA	<i>25</i>
	5.5 KEY VILLAGES - DISCUSSION	<i>25</i>
	5.6 KEY VILLAGES – KEY POINTS	26

<u>6</u>	BALANCED GROWTH OF EXISTING SETTLEMENTS	27
	6.1 DEFINITION	27
	6.2 BALANCED GROWTH - ECONOMIC CRITERIA	27
	6.3 BALANCED GROWTH - SOCIAL CRITERIA	27
	6.4 BALANCED GROWTH - ENVIRONMENTAL CRITERIA	27
	6.5 BALANCED GROWTH - DISCUSSION	27
	6.6 BALANCED GROWTH - KEY POINTS	28
<u>7</u>	NEW SETTLEMENTS	29
	7.1 DEFINITION	29
	7.2 NEW SETTLEMENTS – ECONOMIC CRITERIA	29
	7.3 NEW SETTLEMENTS – SOCIAL CRITERIA	30
	7.4 NEW SETTLEMENTS – ENVIRONMENTAL CRITERIA	30
	7.5 New Settlements - Discussion	30
	7.6 NEW SETTLEMENTS - KEY POINTS	31
<u>8</u>	DISCUSSION & SYNTHESIS	32
	8.1 Introduction	32
	8.2 KEY CRITERIA FOR THE EVALUATION OF SETTLEMENT PATTERNS	32
	8.3 DENSITY AND URBAN FORM	33
	8.4 THRESHOLDS, TIPPING POINTS AND THE TIMING OF IDENTIFIABLE IMPACTS	34
	8.5 MANAGING THE IMPACT OF DEVELOPMENT	35
	8.6 SPATIAL FORM AND OVERALL BENEFITS	36
	8.7 FURTHER WORK	<i>37</i>
	8.8 KEY MESSAGES FOR POLICY MAKERS	37
<u>9</u>	REFERENCES	39
<u>10</u>	EXTENDED BIBLIOGRAPHY BY TOPIC	46
	10.1 Assessing Sustainability	46
	10.2 PLANNING AND THE ENVIRONMENT	47
	10.3 Planning and the Market	49
	10.4 POLYCENTRIC SETTLEMENT GROWTH	50
	10.5 Rural Settlements	51
	10.6 Sustainable Settlements and Transport	52
	10.7 Urban Expansion	53
	10.8 Urban Intensification	55
	10.9 CLIMATE CHANGE	56

<u>11</u>	APPENDICES	60
	11.1 APPENDIX I - PROJECT BRIEF (JULY 2006)	60
	11.2 Appendix 2 – Summary of CURE Literature Review on Impacts of Climate Change on Urban Environments (Gill et al, 2004)	65
	11.3 APPENDIX 3 – SUMMARY TABLE FROM (LCCP, 2002)	67
	11.4 APPENDIX 4 — RECOMMENDATIONS FOR  URBAN ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT (GILL. 2006)	68

# Figures & Tables

TABLE 1	ORIGINAL DOE 1993 ASSESSMENT CRITERIA	12
TABLE 2	ASSESSMENT OF ALTERNATIVE DEVELOPMENT FORMS FROM (BREHENY ET AL., 1993)	13
TABLE 3	ENERGY IMPLICATIONS OF STRUCTURAL VARIABLES (SOURCE: OWENS, 1992, P.100)	35

## 1 Executive Summary

#### 1.1 The Bottom Line

Since Michael Breheny, Tim Gent and David Lock wrote *Alternative Development Patterns: New Settlements* in 1993 (Breheny *et al.*, 1993), the problems faced by spatial planning and housing in the UK have not changed a great deal in substance, although they have got worse. Fundamentally the issue concerning climate change is resource use and how to reduce it.

The evidence suggests that while urban infill can provide some of the answers, new settlements and urban extensions supported by an efficient public transport network must remain a key part of any serious initiative to combat climate change through the planning system.

## 1.2 Many issues are 'Wicked Problems'

Many of the issues raised and explored in the course of this literature review are 'wicked problems', described thus by Wikipedia.

- The problem is not understood until after formulation of a solution.
- Stakeholders have radically different world views and different frames for understanding the problem.
- Constraints and resources to solve the problem change over time.
- The problem is never solved [solutions are better, worse or good enough].

The issues raised herein should therefore be considered as interdependent parts of a greater whole.

#### 1.3 Urban Infill – Key Points

- Much of the literature alludes to urban infill through reference to the compact city;
- In the UK, there remains a strong preference for suburban living;
- Development costs tend to be high, but infrastructure costs tend to be low;
- The evidence for improvements to the local economy through urban infill is mixed;
- Access to social facilities is potentially good;
- Local residents will perceive the value of urban infill schemes in terms of how they are directly affected by such schemes;
- Urban infill schemes can make the local community feel threatened the case for an improved breadth of social mix is not proven;
- Urban infill schemes do not result in loss of greenfield land, and loss of primary habitats is likely to be low;

- Urban infill schemes may however threaten 'derelict' land that has developed its own local ecosystem and social value;
- There is a risk of town cramming and loss of urban green space;
- The multi-functional benefits of urban green space are gaining emphasis, especially for the moderation of climate change impacts.

## 1.4 Urban Extensions – Key Points

- Cost of the end product is likely to be among the cheapest for the five options;
- Urban extensions are among the cheapest in terms of infrastructure costs;
- Access to employment opportunities is likely to be quite good;
- Access to social facilities is heavily context dependent;
- The likelihood of the development of a sense of community is heavily context dependent;
- Larger developments will tend to take on their own identity, whereas smaller developments will more likely be subsumed into the locality;
- Urban extensions do require greenfield land, but may be able to 'plug in' to existing amenities if they are relatively small;
- Loss of natural habitat is likely, even on previously developed sites such as quarries or railway vards;
- There is no risk from town cramming or loss of urban green space;
- Combined heat and power (CHP) systems may be suitable for use in urban extensions.

## 1.5 Key Villages – Key Points

- Key villages per se have received minimal coverage in the literature, since they are a category effectively defined by Breheny et al. (Breheny et al., 1993);
- May possess a variety of employment opportunities, though not in large quantity (this may have become more pronounced since 1993);
- Key village extensions can leverage existing infrastructure;
- Access to social facilities will depend on the size of the key village;
- Existing residents may resent the incoming residents in the extension;
- Additional land is unlikely to be required, since much of the extension will take the form of
  infill;

- The quantity of land available within the village curtilage will tend to limit the amount of infill possible;
- Loss of natural habitat is unlikely;
- Loss of green space interior to the village is a risk;
- Breheny and colleagues described key village extensions as 'the worst of both worlds' (Breheny et al., 1993, p80).

## 1.6 Balanced Growth - Key Points

- Balanced growth is really an issue of spatial, strategic and/or regional planning, rather than a
  distinctive settlement type;
- There is some consensus that some form of polycentric development of the type implicit in the notion of balanced growth can be a sustainable solution.

## 1.7 New Settlements – Key Points

- New settlements are likely to have the lowest cost of end product;
- New settlements are likely to be the most expensive in terms of provision of infrastructure;
- A new settlement that is developed around an existing one may have the potential to contribute to its regeneration;
- A sense of community will require many years to build up;
- Loss of land and natural habitats is inevitable;
- Town cramming is not a risk;
- New settlements are particularly conducive to energy-saving initiatives such as CHP.
- New settlements need to be properly self-contained to be sustainable a 'dormitory settlement' is likely to result in more travel.

## 1.8 Key Messages for Policy Makers

- There are no easy answers.
- Urban infill is a question of balance: if overdone, it may make cities less pleasant places to live, exacerbating the problem it is intended to solve.
- New settlements and large urban extensions have the potential to be sustainable if:
  - a. they are not dormitory settlements, but properly self-contained;
  - b. they are built to sufficiently high densities and standards to support initiatives such as CHP;

- c. they are properly served by public transport.
- d. they are supported by an extensive and well managed green infrastructure.
- Key village extensions may provide 'the worst of both worlds' (Breheny et al., 1993).
- Balanced growth is as much about spatial planning as settlement form.

## 2 Introduction

## 2.1 Preamble & Commentary on Project Brief<sup>1</sup>

This literature review comprises stage two of an analysis of the costs and benefits of accommodating growth in different forms of settlement pattern, carried out for Communities and Local Government's (CLG) Planning Research Network (PRN)1 The first stage involved the preparation of an extended bibliography which is included in section 10.

This report has attempted to meet the requirements of the brief as closely as possible in the time available. The brief is drafted to cover an extremely wide array of topics and problematiques, for which simple answers do not exist, and the review itself<sup>2</sup> is correspondingly wide-ranging, occasionally drifting into issues that might reasonably be considered to have more relevance to spatial planning rather than settlement form *per se*.

The question of spatial planning at scales beyond that of the single settlement also crops up, and while alluded to from time to time, this topic is not covered in any detail. The notion of balanced growth, for example, is only partly to do with settlement types; it is also very much to do with the multiple ways in which collections of settlements interact to create a functional whole; this is the very essence of functional polycentricity (Green, 2005), and in planning for climate change, issues of settlement form need to be placed in a much broader spatial context.

This echoes a far-sighted contribution by Owens (Owens, 1992) who reviewed the case for an energy dimension in the land use planning process. She concluded that:

While not refined in detail, the basic principles for energy-efficient land-use planning already exist. There are some hopeful signs that they will be more widely adopted as success stories stimulate interest elsewhere and as energy efficiency is increasingly identified as a positive asset for any location. Perhaps the only real stimulus, however, can come from crises and, as we enter the 1990s, the increasing urgency to deal with global environmental problems may become the incentive for energy-conscious land-use planning, which unfulfilled threats of physical scarcity have hitherto failed to provide (Owens, 1992).

Since that time the role of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions in forcing climate change has become increasingly well recognised (IPCC, 2001) and the implications for the UK better understood (Hulme *et al.*, 2002). In this context, it is important to consider both the relationship between urban form and energy use (*ie* the potential to mitigate climate change by reducing greenhouse gas emissions) and the need to improve the resilience of urban areas to climate change impacts (climate adaptation) (see for example Hunt, 2004; McEvoy *et al.*, 2006). The nature of

<sup>1</sup> The brief is at Appendix 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The references cited in this literature review are listed in Section 9.

climate change impacts on the urban environment was reviewed by the Centre for Urban and Regional Ecology (Gill *et al.*, 2004)<sup>3</sup> and the potential consequences for a large city like London were explored in a wide ranging review (LCCP, 2002)<sup>4</sup>. This provides a new impetus to debates about urban sustainability and widens the context of the long-running debate about urban form and settlement patterns.

#### 2.2 The Context

As the population of Britain continues to spread itself more evenly, a trend described as consistent more than a decade and half ago (Champion, 1989; Owens, 1992), and that has shown few signs of abating in the intervening years (Hall & Ward, 1998; Rogers & Power, 2000; Hall *et al.*, 2006), the question of how best to accommodate increasing numbers of households becomes ever more pressing. This question, which might be put most crudely as how to build cities that meet the needs of sustainability's 'three pillars' – society, economy, environment – is hardly a new one. Its modern origins lie in the 19th century slum 'city of dreadful night' (Hall, 1988) but if overly high densities were one of the problems then, the lower densities that come as a result of the modern trend to counter-urbanisation are surely of crucial importance now. However, as Ravetz (Ravetz, 2000, p.67) has pointed out, 'a "sustainable" urban form for any city is a complex balance of many needs and goals, at larger and smaller scales.'

Hall provided a thorough historical overview of some of the key issues to do with the various debates on urban form entitled *The Future of the Metropolis and its Form* in 1997, and his conclusions, broadly, were that Howard's model of the social city, updated, still had validity. Hall, with Colin Ward, further pursued this position in *Sociable Cities* (Hall, 1997; Hall & Ward, 1998).

## 2.3 A Note on Wicked Problems

Many of the issues raised and explored in the course of this literature review are 'wicked problems', described thus by Wikipedia.

According to Conklin in ["Dialog Mapping: An Approach for Wicked Problems," (CogNexus Institute, 2003)], the four defining characteristics of wicked problems are:

- The problem is not understood until after formulation of a solution.
- Stakeholders have radically different world views and different frames for understanding the problem.
- Constraints and resources to solve the problem change over time.
- The problem is never solved [solutions are better, worse or good enough].

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Summarised in Appendix 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See summary table in Appendix 3

The issues raised herein should therefore be considered as interdependent parts of a greater whole. The question of how the density of settlement affects its sustainability is a good example. Density is typically measured in one of three different ways, using one of three different units, giving a total of nine crude ways of measuring density. If we want, say, to attempt to find an optimum density that will support a viable public transport system, we need to know (amongst other things) where people work, when they work, socio-economic conditions, what type of public transport, what we mean by 'viable' (Adequate profit margins? Using a given level of subsidy?) and so forth. The answer to the question "what is the optimum density to support a viable public transport system?" is thus a battery of further, equally complex questions. This is the very essence of a 'wicked problem'.

## 2.4 Methodology and Structure of this Literature Review

The five settlement forms and the lists of economic, social and environmental criteria set out in the brief reflect those in the 1993 Department of the Environment publication *Alternative Development Patterns: New Settlements* (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). Sections 2.2 and 2.3 (Breheny *et al.*, 1993, pp.7-13) appear to have been particularly closely followed, and then augmented with some new criteria that reflect present day environmental concerns. These criteria (and indeed the first three chapters of *Alternative Development Patterns: New Settlements*) provide a useful starting point, not least because the assessments of the alternative development types are provided by the authors in terms of their own criteria (this table is reproduced as Table 2 in the present document). We can use Breheny et al's initial assessments as a 'control' with which to compare more recent findings in the literature.

Each of the development types has its own chapter, sub-divided into sections in accordance with the criteria set out by Breheny and colleagues. What (if anything) the literature has to say about each of the criteria with regard to a particular development type is then set in the relevant section.

It should be noted at this point that this review is not a statistically significant meta-analysis of the literature, nor can it be. The building and extension of settlements is heavily context dependent, and the fact that there is no 'right answer' that will fit all eventualities cannot be stated strongly enough. The basic aim of this review is therefore to give a general indication as to whether or not there is a general consensus amongst those who study such matters about the positive and negative aspects of each of the different types of development when examined within the context of the criteria and sub-criteria. The three sets of criteria originally developed by Breheny and colleagues (1993) are set out in Table 1 below, with the additions from the project brief added in italics.

Table 1         Original 1993 DOE Assessment Criteria           Source: derived from (Breheny et al., 1993). Criteria added by the current project brief are in italics			
Economic Criteria	Cost of the end product		
	Economy in the provision and use of infrastructure		
	Maintenance costs		
	Access to employment		
	Potential to generate economic growth within the settlement		
	Potential to regenerate depressed areas		
	Economic viability of public services		
	Road congestion		
Social Criteria	Access to social facilities		
	Potential sense of community		
	Breadth of social mix		
	Potential affordable housing contribution		
	Local acceptability		
	Quality of life / local satisfaction with neighbourhood		
	Impacts on different social groups		
	Car dependency		
	Human health		
Environmental Criteria	Loss of land		
	Loss of natural habitats		
	Energy consumption – transport		
	Energy consumption – space heating		
	Pollution levels		
	Contribution to 'greening' the urban environment		
	Town cramming effect		
	Thermal comfort (heat island effect)		
	Impact of environmental hazards (flooding, storms)		

At this point, a caveat is in order. Breheny and colleagues note that while it is possible to identify five 'generic forms' of urban growth – urban infill; urban extensions; key villages; multiple villages<sup>5</sup>; new settlements – none is proved superior (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). It is worth quoting their observation at length: '...it depends what weight is given to the differing criteria, either in national or strategic policy, or in local terms, or in any combination of these. In particular it is concluded that the five forms are not real alternatives, but forms of which a changing blend will be required over time' (Breheny *et al.*, 1993, p.80).

In view of the fact this document is intended to assist in developing planning policy for climate change, we would therefore make the point that the complexity of the systems being dealt with is such that there is no 'silver bullet' when it comes to targeting optimal forms of urban development for a particular context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 'Balanced growth' replaces the 'multiple village extensions' in the original Breheny document. In effect this is a broadening of the meaning of the original term to encompass settlements other than villages that may be extended.

Table 2 Assessment of Alternative Development Forms from (Breheny et al., 1993)

Source: (Breheny et al., 1993, p.35)

	Urban Infill	Urban Extensions	Key Villages	Multiple Villages	New Settlements
Economic Criteria					
Cost of the end product	High Development Costs	Medium Values	Medium Values	High: premium on scarcity	Can be cheapest
Infrastructure costs	Low provision & use costs	Low provision & use costs	Lower provision & use costs	Can be high	Will be high
Maintenance costs	Connects to old system	May connect to old system	Relatively low, due to major upgrades	Low due to minimal infrastructure	Low: all new systems
Access to employment	Good	Moderate: can be car dependent	Moderate	Poor	Moderate, dependent or local provision
Social Criteria					
Access to social facilities	Good: existing systems	Moderate: can be car dependent	Moderate: depends on size	Poor local provision	Potentially good
Sense of community	Good: existing networks	Moderate	Moderate, tending to good	Good: existing community base	Good/moderate if planned
Social mix	Usually good	Moderate	Moderate	Poor	Moderate
Affordable housing	Moderate & can be negotiated	Moderate at a large scale	Moderate	Poor/moderate	Good thro' planning gair
Local acceptability	Minimal disruption	Reasonable	Moderate, but poor if over- developed	Can be very severe	Could be severe
Environmental Criteria					
Loss of land	Low, by definition	High	High unless infill	High unless infill	High
Loss of habitats	Moderate, dependent on circumstances	Moderate	Moderate	Low/moderate	Could be high
Energy – transport	Low, dependent on congestion	Moderate	High, car dependent	High: very car dependent	High, dependent on location
Energy – space heating	Poor prospects	Moderate/poor prospects	Prospects poor	Prospects poor	Good prospects
Pollution levels	Good/moderate	Relatively high	High because of car usage	High because of car usage	Potentially high
'Greening' contribution	Poor	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Good
Town cramming effect	Poor	Low	Moderate: some village cramming	Moderate: some village cramming	Good

## 3 Urban Infill ('Intensification')

#### 3.1 Definition

Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993) define urban infill as taking place within the boundaries of existing settlements. Such infill can vary in scale, from the large 'urban village' to the development of large back gardens, or derelict gaps in the urban fabric.

Urban infill has its advantages and disadvantages. Advantages are that:

- those who wish to prioritise urban regeneration find it acceptable;
- those seeking to preserve the countryside find it acceptable;
- seemingly derelict land is put to obvious use.

Disadvantages are that:

- urban areas have a limited capacity to absorb more homes;
- urban green space comes under increasing pressure to be developed;
- seemingly derelict land which may in fact harbour diverse ecosystems comes under threat;
- town cramming, and the consequent decline in the quality of urban life is a threat.

While Rogers and Power have claimed that 'people gravitate to compact cities because they like its energy, opportunity, diversity and excitement' (Rogers & Power, 2000, p.281), they offer no evidence to back this up. The trend to counter-urbanisation identified by Champion (Champion, 1989, 2001) suggests that, in Britain at least, the suburbs remain the favoured form of living environment, and that the city centre 'loft living' originally identified by Zukin (Zukin, 1982) remains a preference for a minority, albeit a significant one. Indeed, several authors have observed that many of the merits of urban intensification and the compact city have been based on assertion and theory rather than empirical evidence (see for example Breheny, 1992b, 1992a; Jenks et al., 1996; Williams, 2000; Vallance et al., 2005). Simmonds and Coombe (2000) found in a study comparing a number of compact city scenarios with a 'trend' scenario in the United Kingdom that shifting to a compact city strategy alone will not necessarily change car use, a finding also noted by Banister (Banister, 2005). Simmonds and Coombe also found, however, that a compact city strategy need not worsen travel problems such as congestion unless densities are particularly high (Simmonds & Coombe, 2000). In a recent article, David Lock makes the point that asserting a need to develop at higher densities to make public transport financially 'viable' is, in effect, placing above all other considerations, the profitability of private transport operators (Lock, 2006).

Nonetheless, the merits of the compact city approach are such that Geurs and Wee (2006) conclude that without it, urban sprawl and the concomitant car use in the Netherlands would have been far greater than is currently the case.

#### 3.2 Urban Infill – Economic criteria

Of the three criteria, it is the economic criteria that have received the least coverage in the literature. Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993) argue that urban infill has high development costs relative to the four other forms of development that they examine, and that infrastructure costs are relatively low by virtue of the simple fact that much of the infrastructure already exists. Consequently, the *maintenance costs* of urban infill schemes are also likely to be low, since the infill 'plugs in' to existing systems (Breheny, 1992b). Lastly, *access to employment* for urban infill schemes is likely to be good.

Camagni et al carried out a study of the social and environmental costs of different forms of urban expansion in communes in northern Italy (Camagni *et al.*, 2002) in which five forms of urban expansion were identified: infill; extension; linear development; sprawl and large-scale projects. These forms were then combined in pairs and the ten most significant typologies used for statistical analysis (Camagni *et al.*, 2002, p.204). The authors acknowledge that there is a degree of subjectivity in the attribution of different communes to different typologies.

In terms of land use, which has a bearing on the overall *cost of the end product*, Camagni et al found that: large projects and infilling use the least land per residential unit; linear/sprawl uses the most land per residential unit, closely followed by extension/sprawl (Camagni *et al.*, 2002). These findings can be set against, although not compared with, those of Breheny et al, who found that urban infill tends to have high development costs, and that new settlements can be the cheapest of the five urban forms (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). We can hypothesise that the lower cost of agricultural land, and the potentially high costs of cleaning up brownfield sites would account for these findings.

In a study of three London boroughs<sup>6</sup> Williams (Williams, 2000) found that while all three boroughs had undoubtedly seen improvements in the local economy during the study period, and were happy enough to attribute these improvements to their urban intensification policies (unsurprisingly, perhaps), there was in fact little evidence to tie the improvements directly to the policy. Williams concludes on this topic that 'Determining the extent to which these benefits are a direct result of urban intensification, and how much they are the result of broader economic trends

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Williams studied the inner London borough of Camden, and the outer London boroughs of Harrow and Bromley.

is almost impossible' (Williams, 2000, p.44). The *potential to regenerate depressed areas* must therefore be seen as heavily dependent on context.

#### 3.3 Urban Infill – Social criteria

While Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993) suggest that general access to social facilities, and shops in particular, is likely to be good in urban infill schemes, a general assertion supported to an extent in subsequent research by Williams (Williams, 2000), the question of whether or not existing residents actually perceive urban infill as a 'good thing' is not a simple one. Williams (2000) found that the response of local residents to urban infill was highly subjective. If the original residents perceive their quality of life to have benefitted directly, they are likely to perceive the urban infill itself as beneficial. Likewise, those who feel that their quality of life has suffered as a consequence of urban infill will project that negative perception onto the principle of urban infill in general (Williams, 2000).

The social networks that already exist are judged by Breheny et al. (Breheny et al., 1993) to have the potential to contribute to a good sense of community, but more recent work, such as that of Vallance et al. (Vallance et al., 2005), suggests that a more circumspect assessment may be necessary in certain cases. Vallance et al focused on Christchurch, New Zealand, a city in which suburban residents guard their privacy closely. What Vallance and colleagues found was that urban infill was often not well received by the local residents; the loss of privacy due to new residential buildings was resented by the local residents, since these new developments sometimes gave a clear view into their houses (Vallance et al., 2005). Local residents also felt that their own community was in danger of being damaged by the incomers (ibid).

Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993) were also optimistic with regard to the potential social mix, suggesting that the breadth of social mix in urban infill is likely to be good, and that urban infill creates relatively little disruption, so can be expected to have a high level of local acceptability. However, as with so much, this turns out to be highly context-dependent. Williams (2000) found that in the suburban and predominantly residential areas that she studied (areas similar to those studied by Vallance (2005)), the social changes wrought by urban infill schemes had a negative effect, being perceived as damaging to the sense of community and local identity, and generally disruptive (Williams, 2000). For the respondents of both Williams and Vallance, the increased breadth of social mix was perceived not as a 'good thing', but as a genuine threat to the existing community (Williams, 2000; Vallance et al., 2005). These findings, reports Williams, tend to hold more strongly in the suburban areas, and much less strongly in the less suburban areas that she studied.

Urban infill is not an end in itself but may work effectively if part of a comprehensive programme of socio-economic regeneration (eg Housing Market Renewal areas).

Urban infill schemes offer the possibility of only moderate levels of affordable housing, although this can be negotiated, according to Breheny et al. (Breheny et al., 1993).

In terms of *car dependency*, Williams (2000), concurs with Breheny (1995) that while intensification has a role to play in reducing car use, it is just one part of the solution; cultural issues play an increasingly strong role too, a situation that does not appear to have changed in recent years, and that does not look like changing in the foreseeable future (Banister, 2005). Taking into account environmental issues too (dealt with in the next section), Williams felt unable to reach a clear conclusion on whether or not urban intensification improves *quality of life* (Williams, 2000). However, it seems clear from the findings of both Williams (Williams, 2000) and Vallance (Vallance *et al.*, 2005), that considerable sensitivity to the local context is required if such urban infill schemes are not to cause resentment and distrust among existing residents.

## 3.4 Urban Infill – Environmental criteria

As Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993) observe, urban infill by definition does not result in loss of land, and consequently, the loss of natural habitats and the impacts on biodiversity as a result of urban infill schemes might be expected to be low. However, urban areas are surprisingly rich in wildlife habitats (Gilbert, 1989), especially on previously developed land where disturbance followed by neglect initiates natural succession. Research has emphasised the social benefits of contact with nature in urban areas (Harrison et al., 1995) and standards for access to natural green space have been developed and promoted (Pauleit et al., 2003; Pauleit et al., 2005). Urban infill (despite the safeguards in PPG3<sup>7</sup>) can be problematic when it comes to safeguarding urban biodiversity (Frith, 2002).

Williams (Williams, 2000) found that in three London boroughs, intensification had brought some benefits. In the London Borough of Camden, for example, higher density developments had facilitated the use of combined heat and power installations, although the boroughs of Harrow and Bromley, both more suburban in character than Camden, had not realised such benefits (Williams, 2000).

*Energy consumption* from space heating and lighting can be reduced through the use of combined heat and power (CHP) systems<sup>8</sup>. As Hutchinson (1992) notes, while CHP systems are not 'sustainable' in the sense of using renewable energy sources, by more than doubling efficiency they

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The presumption in favour of development on previously developed land excludes 'land where remains of urban structures have blended into the landscape, eg when there are clear reasons that outweigh reuse, eg nature conservation.'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Combined Heat and Power systems aim to capture the heat produced when generating electricity and use it for domestic or industrial heating purposes.

can dramatically reduce energy use. They are most efficient in high density urban areas (ibid). Owens (Owens, 1992) notes that an optimal structure is one that involves relatively compact urban sub-units, although very high densities are not required and may be inimical to energy conservation.

However, in terms of more general *pollution* impacts such as 'air pollution, noise and a generally poor environment for cyclists and pedestrians' (ibid, p.41) Williams found no evidence of improvements due to urban intensification: all of these had in fact got worse during the period studied (ibid).

As we have seen climate change is likely to intensify the urban heat island (Wilby, 2003), with implications for human health and comfort, and increase volume and intensity of surface run-off of rainfall (Ashley *et al.*, 2005) with implications for riverine flooding and surcharging of urban drainage systems. Modelling techniques are now available for quantifying the ecological performance of urban areas (Whitford *et al.*, 2001b) and these have recently been used to explore the potential consequences of climate change for Greater Manchester (Gill, 2006). This work has emphasised the functional importance of urban green space for moderating surface temperatures and run-off (Gill *et al.*, in press). The research emphasises that areas of high environmental functionality such as flood plains, city centre green spaces, low density development on highly permeable soils and even derelict land may have a key role to play in climate management<sup>9</sup>. Urban intensification may reduce this functionality, thus emphasising the importance of counter-measures such as urban forestry (Brown & Gillespie, 1995), sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS)<sup>10</sup> (Environment Agency & Welsh Government Association, 2003) and green roofs (Mentens *et al.*, 2006). All authors tend to emphasise the multifunctional benefits associated with urban green space in general and these measures in particular.

## 3.5 Urban Infill – Discussion

Urban infill *per se* has not received a great deal of coverage in the literature, although its close cousin, the compact city, has. In this section, we have therefore not only looked at the literature on urban infill, but also at some of the literature on the compact city form, in particular those articles that analyse the compaction of the city that arises as a consequence of urban infill.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The key recommendations from this research are included in Appendix 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems aim to reduce the likelhood of flooding in new and existing urban developments, for example by using porous paving surfaces that enable rain water to seep into the ground rather than overloading drainage systems.

Breheny and colleagues (Breheny *et al.*, 1993) found urban infill to be benign for the most part. The two 'weak spots' centred around the possibility that 'town cramming' becomes a genuine possibility, with negative consequences for the possibility of making a settlement greener. Furthermore, while urban infill has the advantage that it does not encroach on undeveloped land, the increase in suburb to suburb commuting, noted in Breheny (1993), and explored in greater depth by Breheny and Hall (Breheny, 1997; Breheny & Hall, 1999), does raise the possibility that the job-housing location balance may be 'wrong for many households' (Breheny *et al.*, 1993, p.80). In particular, the possibility that urban infill can result in loss of urban green space is noted, as is the possible loss of ecologically rich areas of seemingly derelict land (ibid, p.8).

The multifunctional benefits of urban green space are now being recognised and especially through climate regulation functions, which are so critical for moderating climate change impacts. There is already sufficient evidence to justify strong protection of greenspace resources with high environmental functionality. Urban infill should proceed in a way which results in no net loss of green space and be accompanied by measures to increase functionality, such as SUDS.

However, we also saw from the work of Williams and Vallance (Williams, 1999, 2000; Williams *et al.*, 2000; Vallance *et al.*, 2005) that the potential social impacts of urban infill need to be sensitively handled, and the social, economic and environmental contexts of any proposals carefully understood if urban infill schemes in suburban neighbourhoods are not to do more harm than good.

## 3.6 Urban Infill - Key Points

- Much of the literature alludes to urban infill through reference to the compact city;
- In the UK, there remains a strong preference for suburban living;
- Development costs tend to be high, but infrastructure costs tend to be low;
- The evidence for improvements to the local economy through urban infill is mixed;
- Access to social facilities is potentially good;
- Local residents will perceive the value of urban infill schemes in terms of how they are directly affected by such schemes;
- Urban infill schemes can make the local community feel threatened the case for an improved breadth of social mix is not proven;
- Urban infill schemes do not result in loss of greenfield land, and loss of primary habitats is likely to be low;

- Urban infill schemes may however threaten 'derelict' land that has developed its own local ecosystem and social value;
- There is a risk of town cramming and loss of urban green space;
- The multi-functional benefits of urban green space are gaining emphasis, especially for the moderation of climate change impacts.
- Increased densities may make CHP a feasible option;
- Impacts from flooding will need to be mitigated through the use of SUDS.

## 4 Extension of existing urban areas

#### 4.1 Definition

Urban extensions comprise development which takes place at the edge of an existing settlement, usually on a green field site or other open land (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). Stimulated by improvements in transit systems over the previous century or so, this has been the favoured form of urban growth (ibid). Physically, such growth has usually comprised low-density suburban development, 'a consistently popular residential environment in the UK' (ibid, p.8).

#### 4.2 Urban Extensions – Economic criteria

Perhaps because of the fact that the cost of a particular development is dependent on a large number of context-dependent factors, of which size is the most significant, there is little that has been written about the relative costs of urban extensions. Breheny et al (1993) note that the *cost of the end product* is likely to be lowest for urban extensions, along with new settlements.

Urban extensions are also among the least costly in terms of the *provision and use of infrastructure*, since they are able to make use of the existing infrastructure (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). Urban extensions can also be expected to provide relatively good *access to employment* opportunities, and are likely to be among the least costly options in terms of long term maintenance (ibid).

## 4.3 Urban Extensions – Social Criteria

While the extent to which urban extensions can offer *access to social facilities* will depend on the location and size of the development (Breheny *et al.*, 1993), there remains the possibility that new residents will have access to existing facilities in the more mature suburbs.

The development of a sense of community is likewise dependent on the size and location of the extension (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). Notions of local identity, in particular, will be tied to the overall scale of the development. A larger development is in a better position to take on its own identity than a smaller extension, which may take its identity from older adjoining development (ibid).

#### 4.4 Urban Extensions – Environmental criteria

Like new settlements, urban extensions inevitably consume greenfield land. Breheny et al argue that if the two types of settlement are assumed to share similar densities, then any differences in the amount of land consumed will come as a consequence of differences in the provision of amenities (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). However, urban extensions can 'plug in' to existing amenities to an extent – schools for example – which means that their requirements for land will be less than those of a new settlement designed for a population of similar size and demographic profile. However, very large urban extensions can be expected to require new amenities, and can therefore be expected to use as much land as a new settlement (ibid). However, the new (off-site) infrastructure required by an

urban extension will be substantially less than that required for a new settlement, according to Breheny et al. (Breheny et al., 1993). However, the potential impact on biodiversity is a subset of a wider range of impacts centred on the formerly rural landscape, although sometimes much modified by proximity to the town (Shoard, 2002). Clearly, decisions about peripheral expansion of settlements need to be made in a landscape context and then landscape character assessment is well placed to make an effective contribution (Swanwick & Land Use Consultants, 2002). Interestingly, a study of 'sustainable development of the countryside around the town' found that local authorities were much more confident about the effectiveness of measures to control development (eg green belts) than urban extensions (Ravetz & McEvoy, 2002). Inevitably, the success of policies and programmes was found to be strongly context dependent but the key to effectiveness was interactive planning in which cross-sectoral links brought together a cluster or chain of different but complementary initiatives.

Loss of natural habitat due to the development of a new urban extension is possible, even on previously developed sites such as quarries, railway yards or brick pits. This is because such sites may have developed their own, possibly fragile ecosystems in the time since they were abandoned to nature (Breheny et al., 1993).

Breheny et al note that in the case of urban extensions there is no risk from either *town cramming* or loss of urban green space (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). In fact there are positive opportunities here to develop an effective, multifunctional green network (Barker, 1997). This 'green infrastructure' can be seen as a 'interconnected network of green spaces that conserves natural ecosystem values and functions' (Benedict & McMahon, 2002). Design guidance is now emerging about how the green infrastructure can be realised in practice (URBED, 2004) and the concept is now integral to development strategies in the growth areas around London (eg DEFRA and ODPM). A key issue here is to avoid locations, such as flood plains, where environmental hazards may be intensified by climate change (Gwilliam *et al.*, 2006) and to reflect climate change considerations fully in the planning of new development (Land Use Consultants *et al.*, 2006).

Breheny et al found that urban extensions or new settlements that function as 'dormitory' suburbs or towns are not energy efficient, since they encourage rather than discourage travel (Breheny *et al.*, 1993).

Energy consumption due to space heating and power can also be reduced through the use of CHP systems. While CHP is at its most efficient in high density urban areas, relatively low density suburban housing (including detached housing) is a also a feasible urban form in which to deploy it (Hutchinson, 1992), and thus it may be suitable for use in urban extensions.

#### 4.5 Urban Extensions – Discussion

Urban extensions by definition are on the periphery of existing urban areas. Breheny and colleagues (Breheny et al., 1993) argue that this has consequences both good and bad. The advantages are that the centre is reinforced, and any spare capacity that it might have is utilised. Such peripheral developments also offer the choice of ready access to both urban centre and urban hinterland, although such development is of course closer to that indeterminate area known as the rural-urban fringe (see Gallent et al., 2006 for a discussion of the rural-urban fringe). The disadvantage, suggest the authors, is that any sense of community is not encouraged, and that planning gains in the form of affordable housing, community facilities and so forth were few. Breheny argued, with Peter Hall, that commuting from edge to edge of cities was a growing trend (Breheny, 1997; Breheny & Hall, 1999). A lack of employment provision in such developments does little to discourage long journeys to work (Breheny et al., 1993), and could be expected to to continue this trend of 'edge-to-edge' commuting.

## 4.6 Urban Extensions – Key Points

- Cost of the end product is likely to be among the cheapest for the five options;
- Urban extensions are among the cheapest in terms of infrastructure costs;
- Access to employment opportunities is likely to be quite good;
- Access to social facilities is heavily context dependent;
- The likelihood of the development of a sense of community is heavily context dependent;
- Larger developments will tend to take on their own identity, whereas smaller developments will more likely be subsumed into the locality;
- Urban extensions do require greenfield land, but may be able to 'plug in' to existing amenities if they are relatively small;
- Loss of natural habitat is likely, even on previously developed sites such as quarries or railway yards;
- There is no risk from town cramming or loss of urban green space;
- CHP systems may be suitable for use in urban extensions.

## 5 'Key Village Extensions' Approach

#### 5.1 Definition

Key villages were defined by Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993) as those villages that were selected within a local development plan for urban expansion. The grounds for making a particular choice of village were that it would be a 'cost-effective focus for investment in new infrastructure and facilities' (ibid). Key villages in fact serve as local service centres for the smaller villages around them. These smaller villages are also relieved of some development pressures by the expansion of the central key village.

The 'key village' – a policy term rather than an analytical one – has its origins in the notion of the key settlement described in particular by Cloke (Cloke, 1979, 1983). Seen in the 1970s as a way of enabling County Councils to select certain settlements for growth, the notion of key settlements *per se* declined as power shifted to the District level in the 1980s. However, the problems that the notions of the key village and key settlement were intended to address (described above in the quote from Breheny et al (Breheny *et al.*, 1993)) remain. This is particularly the case now, as the normative and analytical notion of polycentricity continues to drive the planning agenda both in the UK and elsewhere in Europe (Green, 2005; Hall & Pain, 2006; Hall *et al.*, 2006).

## 5.2 Key Villages – Economic criteria

Breheny et al noted (albeit nearly well over a decade ago) that key villages can possess a variety of employment opportunities; the problem is that they may not exist in sufficient quantity to meet the needs of those who wish to work locally (Breheny *et al.*, 1993).

Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993) note that for 'expansion and village schemes', overall development costs may be lower. Balanced growth approaches also have the advantage that they can leverage existing infrastructure provision, in terms of both use and maintenance. Access to employment is likely to be moderately good, again because the existing economic infrastructure may be in place. However, these criteria are all dependent upon the location of the existing settlements.

In earlier work that explored key settlements, Martin and Voorhees (Martin & Vorhees Associates, 1981) argued that the economic reasons for concentrating development since the second World War included the reduction of costs of infrastructure provision and services, and a reduction in cost, but an increase in catchment for services such as schools, health centres, playing fields, village halls and so forth (Martin & Vorhees Associates, 1981).

## 5.3 Key Villages – Social criteria

While key villages may benefit from the fact that there is a pre-existing community, there is also the risk that this community may resent the intrusion of the incomers: this may be especially the case when the village in question is relatively small (Breheny et al., 1993). Size will also have a bearing on access to social facilities (ibid).

Martin & Voorhees (Martin & Vorhees Associates, 1981) noted that amongst the primary socioeconomic reasons for concentration policies between 1945 and 1980 were:

- The maintenance of population numbers in the countryside;
- The prevention of drift from rural areas to urban areas;
- Encouragement of more diverse rural economies;
- Improved quality of rural life;
- The fostering of community spirit.

## 5.4 Key Villages – Environmental criteria

According to Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993), additional land is unlikely to be required for the extension of key villages since new development is most likely to take the form of infill. They add, however, that the relatively small amounts of previously developed land in villages will tend to limit the amount of infill that can take place, especially in comparison with larger settlements such as towns and cities (ibid).

In terms of *loss of natural habitat*, Breheny et al (Breheny *et al.*, 1993) note that since development of key villages tends to be small and dispersed, the impact on natural habitats will be relatively small in comparison, for example, with a new settlement, or an urban extension. However, similar reservations exist here, as with urban infill, particularly for features such as old orchards which have their own distinctive fauna (Webb, 2004).

However, in terms of loss of urban green space, and *town cramming*, key villages are at particular risk for precisely the reasons mentioned above – the relative lack of green space in the village interior (ibid).

Martin & Voorhees (Martin & Vorhees Associates, 1981) note that the concentration of new development in order to safeguard open land for recreation is also a principal reason for concentration policies.

#### 5.5 Key Villages – Discussion

The expansion of key outlying settlements was described by Breheny and colleagues as offering 'the worst of both worlds' (Breheny *et al.*, 1993, p.80). While the character of the village is overwhelmed by the new developments, there are few gains for the local community in terms either of facilities or employment opportunities.

## 5.6 Key Villages – Key Points

- Key villages per se have received minimal coverage in the literature, since they are a category effectively defined by Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993). They do, however, have an approximate counterpart in the notion of the key settlement, but both are policy rather than analytical constructs;
- May possess a variety of employment opportunities, though not in large quantity (this may have become more pronounced since 1993);
- Key village extensions can leverage existing infrastructure;
- Access to social facilities will depend on the size of the key village;
- Existing residents may resent the incoming residents in the extension;
- Additional land is unlikely to be required, since much of the extension will take the form of
  infill;
- The quantity of land available within the village curtilage will tend to limit the amount of infill possible;
- Loss of natural habitat is unlikely;
- Loss of green space interior to the village is a risk;
- Breheny and colleagues described key village extensions as 'the worst of both worlds' (Breheny et al., 1993, p80).

## 6 Balanced Growth of Existing Settlements

#### 6.1 Definition

Balanced growth itself is really an issue of spatial, strategic and/or regional planning, rather than a distinctive settlement type, dealing as it does with an over-arching approach that aims to balance social, economic and environmental considerations within the spatial context. It is thus a rather nebulous concept, and likely to mean different things to different people. Breheny and colleagues (Breheny *et al.*, 1993) do not specifically cover general balanced growth of existing settlements, although they do deal with multiple village extensions, which are also discussed in this section. Multiple village extensions are defined as either additions at the village fringe, or as infill development, which may include the conversion of agricultural buildings to residential use (ibid).

#### 6.2 Balanced Growth - Economic criteria

Breheny et al have little to say on the economics of multiple village extensions.

## 6.3 Balanced Growth - Social criteria

Breheny et al (Breheny *et al.*, 1993) note that new residents in multiple village extensions may have to travel considerable distances to access social facilities, since the scale of development in any single village extension is unlikely to be sufficient to support an increase in local social facilities. There is a sense in which multiple village extensions – each by definition small – simply lack the necessary critical mass.

However, there are advantages to this. Small villages are highly sensitive to sudden relatively large increases in population. A sensitive programme of multiple village extensions will need to be carried through slowly and with a small pace of growth, thus preserving the existing sense of local community (Breheny *et al.*, 1993).

#### 6.4 Balanced Growth – Environmental criteria

As with the economics of multiple village extensions, Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993) do not comment at length on the environmental impacts of multiple village extensions. However, it seems reasonable to conclude that as with the expansion of key villages, multiple village extensions will tend to cause little loss of natural habitat, but may cause loss of green space that is internal to the village. The scope for this will of course be limited in the same way that it is for key villages.

#### 6.5 Balanced Growth - Discussion

Balanced growth is not an easy thing to study. In effect, an in-depth study of balanced growth in England would be a study of spatial planning in England: perhaps the closest that anyone has come to this is Peter Hall in *The Containment of Urban England* and, more recently in *The Polycentric Metropolis* (Hall, 1973; Hall & Pain, 2006).

Cervero (Cervero, 1995) has explored the way in which Stockholm developed after the second World War, while Hall and Ward (Hall & Ward, 1998) have set out a blueprint for the balanced growth of England. However, this sort of balanced growth is as much an exercise in regional planning as it is in identifying appropriate urban forms for the mitigation of the effects of climate change.

The TRANUS experiment (Brown, 1998) is interesting because here development is concentrated more or less evenly in villages around the urban centre, whilst restricting car access to the core and facilitating radial transport between the satellites. This produces the largest shift between transport modes but energy use is somewhat higher because trips are on average slightly longer. Banister (Banister, 2002) argues that the only way to move toward sustainable development goals in a car dependent society is through combining planning and transport strategies so as to reduce the need to travel. He says 'this means that people should live in close proximity to services and facilities, and demonstrate a commitment to using them' (Banister, 2002, p.100).

## 6.6 Balanced Growth – Key Points

- Balanced growth is really an issue of spatial, strategic and/or regional planning, rather than a
  distinctive settlement type;
- There is some consensus that some form of polycentric development of the type implicit in the notion of balanced growth can be a sustainable solution.

## 7 New Settlements

#### 7.1 Definition

New settlements are a means of accommodating urban growth through the establishment of a new geographical focus for development (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). Breheny et al make the point that a working definition of a new settlement is not to easy to arrive at, but they offered these approximate guidelines as being appropriate at the time they were writing (Breheny *et al.*, 1993, p.9):

- A new settlement may or may not incorporate a small pre-existing settlement;
- Developers did not typically see a development of less than 350 dwellings as being a 'new settlement';
- A 'new wave' new settlement could be expected to have between 350 and 5,500 dwellings, although there is no reason in principle why it should not be larger;
- The criterion of 'free-standing' must be loosely applied, although some degree of functional separation from other settlements is a requirement.

Having laid down these loose ground rules, Breheny et al defined a new settlement as:

A free standing settlement, promoted by private or public sector interests, where the completed new development – of whatever size – constitutes 50% or more of the total size of settlement, measured in terms of population or dwellings (Breheny *et al.*, 1993, p.9).

#### 7.2 New Settlements – Economic criteria

Breheny et al found that overall, new settlements, along with urban infill, were likely to have the lowest *cost of the end product*. However, in terms of provision and use of infrastructure, new settlements were likely to be the most expensive (Breheny *et al.*, 1993). Significant provision of *access to employment*, found Breheny et al, had been observed in a minority of new settlements at the time they were writing (1993). They added that none offered the prospect of self-containment (ibid), from which we might reasonably conclude that the potential to generate economic growth was minimal.

By the definition set out by Breheny et al (and given above), it is possible for a new settlement to have the *potential to regenerate depressed areas*, although in practice this would be the pre-existing settlement around which the new settlement is developed. Breheny et al make no comment on this, however.

Banister notes that 'evidence from great Britain shows that large metropolitan settlements tend to be associated with low distance travel and *energy consumption* (Banister, 2005, p.105). This may

be because higher population densities widen the range of opportunities for personal contacts and activities that do not require motorized transport (ibid). Banister also notes, however, that diseconomies of scale may occur with very large settlement sizes, when travel distances between home and the urban centre increase. In short, the relationship between settlement size and travel patterns is complex (ibid).

#### 7.3 New Settlements – Social criteria

While access to social facilities can be 'designed in' to a new settlement, the fact remains that a 'sense of community' is built up over the longer term. Thus Breheny et al find no evidence that a spontaneous growth of a sense of community will arise until very many years have passed without careful attention to urban design (Breheny et al., 1993). Cervero (1995) notes along similar lines that Sven Markelius designed Stockholm's post-war satellite towns at higher densities, despite surveys showing that Swedes tended to prefer mid- or low-rise housing: Markelius hoped, in effect, to change people's behaviour through design (Cervero, 1995).

#### 7.4 New Settlements – Environmental criteria

New settlements share much in common with urban extensions in terms of environmental criteria, according to Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993), particularly in terms of: loss of land (inevitable); loss of natural habitats (likely); energy consumption due to transport (inefficient if a dormitory town); contribution to 'greening' the existing urban environment (no effect, by definition, although does no harm); and town cramming (again no effect, but does no harm) (Breheny et al., 1993).

Breheny et al do suggest, however, that new settlements have considerable potential for reduced *energy consumption* in terms of space heating and lighting, since they are being designed from scratch. The difficult question remains, however, of the scales at which it becomes economic to introduce initiatives such as schemes for combined heating and power (CHP). Overall, however, Breheny et al conclude that in the light of the evidence available at the time (1993), new settlements are particularly conducive to CHP schemes (Breheny *et al.*, 1993).

## 7.5 New Settlements – Discussion

New settlements, according to Breheny and colleagues (Breheny *et al.*, 1993) can, if of sufficient size<sup>11</sup> and in the right location, provide all that is required. However, while they may be able to offer good energy efficiency at larger scales, they require the use of rural land. However, the historical precedents to demonstrate the efficacy of this approach can be found easily enough:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Breheny et al suggest a minimum of 3000–5000 dwellings, with around 10,000 dwellings being preferable Breheny, M., Gent, T. and Lock, D. (1993) *Alternative Development Patterns: New Settlements*, London: HMSO..

Markelius's scheme for the post-war expansion of Stockholm is a classic example (Hall, 1988; Cervero, 1995), while Hall and Ward (Hall & Ward, 1998) offer a blueprint for how the balanced regional growth originally advocated by Howard (Howard, 1898) may be updated for the present day.

## 7.6 New Settlements – Key Points

- New settlements are likely to have the lowest cost of end product;
- New settlements are likely to be the most expensive in terms of provision of infrastructure;
- A new settlement that is developed around an existing one may have the potential to contribute to its regeneration;
- A sense of community will require many years to build up;
- Loss of land and natural habitats is inevitable;
- Town cramming is not a risk;
- New settlements are particularly conducive to energy-saving initiatives such as CHP.
- New settlements need to be properly self-contained to be sustainable a 'dormitory settlement' is likely to result in more travel.

## 8 Discussion & Synthesis

#### 8.1 Introduction

'This work was commissioned because of increasing political, public and professional concerns about how best to accommodate new development: its scale, location and consequences.' Thus Breheny, Gent and Lock (Breheny et al., 1993) in the first sentence of Alternative Development Patterns: New Settlements. There appears to be little in the literature since the mid-1990s to suggest that much has changed in the decade and a half or so since the publication of this work, which continues to be much-cited in far more recent literature. This is not simply due to a lack of research, although it is certainly the case that in the UK at least, there has been relatively little research into many, although not all of these issues: the compact city in particular has been a topic of considerable debate, and this variance in coverage is very obviously reflected in this review.

The lack of change is also because many of the arguments and issues raised by Breheny, Gent and Lock remain every bit as accurate and relevant in 2006 as they were in 1993: the concerns about housing and settlement type and location remain, and if anything have probably become greater; the phrase 'housing crisis' is no longer decried as unnecessary fear-mongering, but can be heard regularly in the mass media; environmental concerns are now in the political mainstream.

We might therefore have expected a continuing research effort since the mid-1990s on the relative merits of accommodating household growth in different forms of settlement pattern, especially given the imperative of sustainable development. However, as Susan Owens has observed (Owens, 1992), in an era of relatively low fuel costs, it would take an environmental crisis to rekindle serious interest in energy conscious land-use planning. It is clear from our growing understanding of the imminence of climate change, and its likely impacts, that that time is now.

In this review we have seen that many of the questions raised in the original brief have only been partially answered in the available literature (key villages, for example, get barely a mention), and the time constraints within which this review was prepared have not left room for anything except a rather superficial look at what has been written. Even so, it is clear that there are no easy answers.

## 8.2 Key Criteria for the Evaluation of Settlement Patterns

The framework set out in 1993 by Breheny et al (Breheny et al., 1993), and updated in the brief for this literature review, remains as valid a way of assessing new settlements as any (and no less challenging). To be sure, certain criteria are more mercurial than others, and the fact that settlements do not exist in isolation from one another but are parts of a much larger functional whole makes the development of any list of criteria an invidious exercise.

As Breheny et al point out in their original analysis, the various scores given to different settlement types for different criteria are 'far from sacrosanct.' Instead, 'they are intended to focus discussion,

rather than present a definitive assessment. Readers are invited to produce different scores, weigh criteria, and consider their judgements on the relative merits of the alternatives' (ibid, p.vii). Again, the message is clear: context is crucial – there is no single 'correct' answer.

## 8.3 Density and Urban Form

The question of density is a vexed one. There is no single agreed way of defining it, although the Town and Country Planning Association's policy statement on residential densities, which draws heavily on the work of the late Michael Breheny, notes that there are typically three ways of measuring density (TCPA, 2003):

- *Net residential densities* include land covered by residential development (including gardens and other spaces), plus half the width of adjacent roads;
- Gross residential densities add to net residential densities non-residential development to reflect local amenites and services;
- Town density measure the gross residential density over a discrete urban area.

These measures make no reference to which units should be used, and the TCPA note that there are typically three commonly used *units of density* (TCPA, 2003):

- Dwellings per hectare (DPH);
- Habitable rooms per hectare (HRPH);
- Bed-spaces per hectare (BPH).

It can be seen that measuring residential density is no simple matter. None of these three definitions refers to the number of people who actually inhabit a given area, although habitable rooms and bed-spaces suggest potential capacity (indeed, the TCPA suggests people per hectare as their preferred measure). Since a dwelling can be anything from a six-bedroom detached house to a bedsit, the general notion of a dwelling indicates little about the population it houses (TCPA, 2003).

Clearly, then, there is no simple relationship between urban form and density. An urban form comprising residential tower blocks can be given a particular density by the simple expedient of situating it on a suitably-sized piece of undeveloped land. For example, an urban form comprising tower blocks, each having one-hundred dwellings, could be given a density (in DPH) of 25 DPH by situating each block in 4 hectares of undeveloped land, or 100 DPH by situating each block in one hectare of undeveloped land. 25 DPH is a typical density for modern suburban developments, and it can be seen that although the tower block in 4 hectares of land and the modern suburb may have identical densities in terms of dwellings per hectare, they are fundamentally different urban forms.

Even applying such figures is difficult. For example, we may wish to find an optimum density that will support a viable public transport system. To do this, we need to know (amongst other things): where people work; when they work; socio-economic conditions; what type of public transport; what we mean by 'viable' (Adequate profit margins? Using no more than a given level of subsidy? A minimum level of usage?) and so forth. The answer to the question 'what is the optimum density to support a viable public transport system?' is thus a battery of further, equally complex questions.

The SOLUTIONS (Sustainability Of Land Use and Transport In Outer NeighbourhoodS) project (SOLUTIONS, 2007), which aims to explore the ways in which different patterns of development may influence and be influenced by transport, has so far only published interim findings of a case study based around Cambridge.

The safest, and most accurate comment on density is that it is but one part of a complex equation. It is worth noting, however, that the TCPA suggest that if a single figure for optimum density were to be chosen, they would choose 35 dwellings per hectare. Crucially, they add that this figure is heavily contingent upon local circumstance, and will need to be varied accordingly (TCPA, 2003).

## 8.4 Thresholds, Tipping Points and the Timing of Identifiable Impacts

The notion of a 'tipping point,' a concept originally coined by Grodzins (Grodzins, 1960) in the context of racial segregation, is relatively new in policy terms. The notion of dramatic systemic change is familiar enough from chaos theory, and Ruelle points out that social systems in particular are both highly complex and have a high a degree of uncertainty in mathematical terms (Ruelle, 1997).

The identification of tipping points is thus no easy task, and tipping points in social systems are particularly difficult to predict, even after the kind of detailed and close study that is both required and not possible in a literature review such as this. The very nature of a tipping point is such that both the time and effects of its arrival are not easily predictable, even with the benefit of hindsight (Green, 1999), and decisions about tipping points with regard to climate change also have a political dimension (Fairbridge, 2006).

Perhaps unsurprisingly, it follows that there is little on the timing of identifiable impacts of the different types of settlement pattern. Perhaps it is safest to quote Peter Hall, who when asked at a seminar whether, in his view, Letchworth Garden City had been a success, quipped 'Too early to tell.'

Thresholds are less intractable, but by no means simple. Banister and Newman & Kenworthy point out that larger settlements can be expected to be more efficient (Newman & Kenworthy, 1999;

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Personal communication from a member of the audience at the seminar.

Banister, 2005). Banister (Banister, 2005, p.112) offers the following, fairly specific figures for new settlement sizes: 'new development should be of substantial size and located near (or within) existing urban areas so that critical size thresholds (at least 25 000 population and preferably over 50 000) can be achieved.' Such settlements should have 'mixed densities greater than 40 persons per hectare, with mixed use developments in public transport accessible corridors and near to highly accessible public transport interchanges' (ibid). Banister continues, echoing Howard (1898) and more recently Hall and Ward (1998): 'Settlements of this scale would be linked together to form agglomerations of polycentric cities, with clear hierarchies that would allow close proximity of everyday facilities and accessibility to higher order activities.'

Owens (Owens, 1992) notes that a density of more than 250 dwellings per hectare in an existing small city will provide a break-even point for Combined Heating and Power/District Heating (CHP/DH) assuming constant fuel prices, a discount rate of 10% and a power station 15km from the edge of the city. Put like this, it is easy to see that the density threshold is only one variable in a complex equation, that includes: thresholds for fuel prices, both present and future; the discount rate, itself dependent on prevailing economic conditions (which may in turn depend on oil prices); and the distance of the power station from the edge of the city. As Owens puts it 'the relationship between spatial structure and the viability of CHP/DH is dynamic' (Owens, 1992, p.98). Owens does make the point that higher densities tend to be more economically favourable to CHP, and adds that built forms need to 'facilitate internal routing, linear layout and mixing of land uses' (ibid). The complex relationship between urban form and energy use is evident in Table 3.

Table 3 Energy Implications of Structural Variables (source: Owens, 1992, p.100)			
Structural Variable	Mechanisms	Energy Implications	
Shape	Travel requirements	Variation of up to about 20%	
Interspersion of activities	Travel requirements (especially trip length)	Variation of up to 130%	
Combination of structural variables (shape, size, land-use mix etc)	Travel requirements (trip length and frequency)	Variation of up to 150%	
Density / built form	Surface area:volume ratio affects energy requirements for space heating	200% variation between different built forms	
Density / clustering of trip ends	Facilitate running of public transport system	Energy savings up to 20%	
Density / mixing of land uses	Facilitate introduction of energy- efficient chp/dp systems	Efficiency of promary-energy use improved by up to 100%	
Density / siting / orientation and landscaping	Maximises potential to use 'free' ambient energy	Can reduce conventional energy- consumption by at least 20%	

## 8.5 Managing the Impact of Development

As this review has shown, development brings benefits but not without impacts. Impacts can be identified and addressed at all levels in the planning process, from strategic environmental assessment of policies, plans and programmes to review of individual development proposals.

Impact assessment is given a new impetus in the context of climate change when poorly sited development may be put at risk as environmental hazards intensify and ill-considered development may significantly increase greenhouse gas emissions. This presents a formidable challenge to the planning profession (Wilson, 2006) and to environmental governance (Bulkeley & Betsill, 2005).

In this review, a consistent feature of all development 'options' is the exchange of 'natural' for built environment, with political consequences for human wellbeing, as well as biodiversity. We now recognise that many of these services relating to the natural environment can be sustained in urban areas by incorporating a multi-functional network which includes the totality of urban green space, public and private (Barker, 1997; Benedict & McMahon, 2002; Hough, 2004). These functions include the moderation of climate change impacts and new research has begun to quantify the benefits (Whitford *et al.*, 2001a; Gill, 2006). Design guidance is now being developed (URBED, 2004) and checklists with helpful guidance for developers on adapting to climate change (GLA, 2005). However, the wider use of adaptive measures such as sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS) will require heightened awareness within the planning profession (Howe & White, 2001) and determination to overcome the many barriers that still stand in the way of effective implementation (White & Howe, 2005).

## 8.6 Spatial Form and Overall Benefits

With regard to *energy consumption due to transport* the relationship between urban form and transport efficiency is a complex one, but Breheny et al found a consensus amongst a number of different studies that some form 'decentralised concentration' is 'relatively efficient', since different models suggest that constraints on mobility will tend to encourage people to use those jobs and services that are nearest to them (Breheny *et al.*, 1993), a consensus supported by Owens (Owens, 1992).

Banister (Banister, 2005) refers to the ABC location policy of the Netherlands, which is a means of allocating particular settlement types a place in a simple hierarchy using the following basic criteria.

- highly accessible by public transport and tight restrictions on parking (10 spaces per 100 employees in Randstad, 20 elsewhere); the target group involves labour or visitor intensive companies such as office or public facilities;
- good accessibility by car (fewer parking restrictions, namely 20 spaces per 100 employees in the Randstad and 40 elsewhere) and public transport;
- highly accessible by car and less reachable by public transport, no parking restrictions; the
  target group are companies that need to be accessible by car and truck (quoted from Banister,
  2005, pp.114-5).

In a study of *energy use in transport* in English towns having populations of approximately 100,000, Rickaby et al (1992) found that as density increases, so energy use tends to decrease, reinforcing the findings of other research on this topic, although as Breheny points out, Rickaby has also found that in theoretical models, the most efficient urban forms tended to include urban concentration plus nearby villages, in a polycentric regional structure (Rickaby, 1987; Breheny, 1992b). As Orrskog and Snickars point out, this prescription is very close to that set out by Howard over a century ago in his concept of the 'social city' (Howard, 1898; Orrskog & Snickars, 1992).

#### 8.7 Further Work

This review merely scratches the surface in what is a hugely important, complex and invidious debate. Although its remit has been to answer questions, it would be fair to say that in attempting to find answers, it has also raised yet more questions. This is not surprising. There are many issues to do with land use and spatial planning that have been discussed by other commentators, and that could reasonably be stated as being of relevance to the issues discussed in this review. The wider role of the rural-urban fringe, for example, has been discussed recently by Gallent et al (Gallent *et al.*, 2006), and this debate is clearly one that crosses over into debates about urban extensions.

The role and purpose of green belts is also salient in this context, and the long-running and heated debate shows few signs of letting up (see for example Elson, 1986; Evans, 1988; Herington, 1991; Elson *et al.*, 1993; Elson *et al.*, 1996; see for example Mawson & Tewdwr-Jones, 1997; RTPI, 2002; TCPA, 2002).

The emergent issue which is likely to reactivate this whole research agenda concerns climate change. As Owens showed some twenty years ago (Owens, 1986), settlement form and density can have profound implications for energy use. Modelling, of the type described by Brown (Brown, 1998), can help to shed light on the merits of alternative development scenarios and transport management strategies. That work showed that urban densification may have unexpected consequences and we now realise that this could involve reduced adaptive capacity in the face of climate change. Work in both areas, mitigation and adaptation, clearly remains a priority, but especially where measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions can also increase resilience. The development of viable 'green infrastructure' is just one way in which a positive interaction might be encouraged.

#### 8.8 Key Messages for Policy Makers

- There are no easy answers.
- Urban infill is a question of balance: if overdone, it may make cities less pleasant places to live, exacerbating the problem it is intended to solve.
- New settlements and large urban extensions have the potential to be sustainable if:

- a. they are not dormitory settlements, but properly self-contained;
- b.they are built to sufficiently high densities and standards to support initiatives such as CHP;
- c. they are properly served by public transport.
- d. they are supported by an extensive and well managed green infrastructure.
- Key village extensions may provide 'the worst of both worlds' (Breheny et al., 1993).
- Balanced growth is as much about spatial planning as settlement form.

# 9 References

The references listed below have all been cited in the review. An extended bibliography may be found in Section 10.

ASHLEY, R. M., BALMFORTH, D. J., SAUL, A. J. and BLANSKBY, J. D. (2005) Flooding in the future – predicting climate change, risks and responses in urban areas, *Water, Science and Technology*, 52, pp. 265-273.

BANISTER, D. (2002) *Sustainable development – or faster, further and more?* in: J. Jenkins (Ed.) Remaking the Landscape - the changing face of Britain. pp. 85-101. London: Profile Books Ltd.

BANISTER, D. (2005) *Unsustainable Transport - city transport in the new century,* Abingdon, Oxfordshire: Routledge.

BARKER, G. (1997) A Framework for the Future: Green networks with multiple uses in and around towns and cities, Peterborough: English Nature.

BENEDICT, M. A. and MCMAHON, E. T. (2002) Green Infrastructure: Smart Conservation for the 21st Century, *Renewable Resources Journal*, 20(3), pp. 12-17.

Breheny, M. (Ed.) (1992a) Sustainable development and urban form, London: Pion.

BREHENY, M. (1992b) *The Contradictions of the Compact City: A Review*, in: M. Breheny (Ed.) Sustainable Development and Urban Form. pp. 138-159. London: Pion.

BREHENY, M. (1995) Compact cities and transport energy consumption, *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 20(1)London: Institute of British Geographers.

BREHENY, M. (Ed.) (1997) *The People: Where Will They Work?* London: Town & Country Planning Association.

Breheny, M., Gent, T. and Lock, D. (1993) *Alternative Development Patterns: New Settlements*, London: HMSO.

BREHENY, M. and HALL, P. (1999) *The People; Where Will They Live*, London: Town & Country Planning Association.

BROWN, F. (1998) Modelling Urban Growth, *Town & Country Planning*, pp. 334-337. London: Town and Country Planning Association.

BROWN, R. D. and GILLESPIE, T. J. (1995) *Microclimate Landscape Design: Creating Thermal Comfort and Energy Efficiency*, Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

BULKELEY, H. and BETSILL, M. (2005) Rethinking Sustainable Cities: Multilevel Governance and the 'Urban' Politics of Climate Change, *Envronmental Politics*, 14(1), pp. 42-63. London: Taylor & Francis.

CABE SPACE (2004) Green Space Strategies - a good practice guide, London: CABE Space.

CAMAGNI, R., GIBELLI, M. and RIGAMONTI, C. (2002) Urban mobility and urban form: the social and environmental costs of different patterns of urban expansion, *Ecological Economics*, 40, pp. 199-216.

CERVERO, R. (1995) Stockholm's rail-served satellites, Cities, 12(1), pp. 41-51. London: Elsevier.

CHAMPION, A. G. (1989) Counterurbanization in Britain, *Geographical Journal*, 155, pp. 52-59. London.

CHAMPION, A. G. (2001) A Changing Demographic Regime and Evolving Polycentric Urban Regions: Consequences for the Size, Composition and Distribution of City Populations, *Urban Studies*, 38(4), pp. 657-677. London: Routledge.

CLOKE, P. J. (1979) Key Settlements in Rural Areas, London: Methuen & Co.

CLOKE, P. J. (1983) An Introduction to Rural Settlement Planning, London: Methuen & Co.

DEFRA and ODPM (2004) Creating Sustainable Communities: Greening the Gateway, a greenspace strategy for Thames Gateway, London: Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

EEA (2003) European Environment Agency, <a href="http://glossary.eea.eu.int/EEAGlossary/D/DPSIR">http://glossary.eea.eu.int/EEAGlossary/D/DPSIR</a>, site accessed August 2003.

ELSON, M. (1986) Green Belts: Conflict Mediation in the Urban Fringe, London: Heinemann.

ELSON, M., STEENBURG, C. and MENDHAM, N. (1996) *Green Belts and Affordable Housing: Can We Have Both?* Bristol: Policy Press.

ELSON, M., WALKER, S. and MACDONALD, R. (1993) *The Effectiveness of Green Belts*, London: HMSO.

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY & WELSH GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION (2003) Management of flood risk, April 2003 Environment Agency & Welsh Government Association.

EVANS, A. (1988) *No room! No room!* Occasional Paper 79, London: Institute of Economic Affairs.

FAIRBRIDGE, R. (2006) Global warming and the tipping point, *International Journal of Environmental Studies*, 63, pp. 361.

FRITH, M. (2002) Town and out, *Urbio*, 1(1), pp. 2.

GALLENT, N., BIANCONI, M. and ANDERSSON, J. (2006) Planning on the edge: England's rural-urban fringe and the spatial-planning agenda, *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 33(3), pp. 457-476. London: Pion.

\*GEURS, K. and WEE, B. (2006) Ex post evaluation of 30 years of compact urban development in the Netherlands.

GILBERT, O. L. (1989) *The Ecology of Urban Habitats*, London and New York: Chapman and Hall.

GILL, S. (2006) PhD Thesis, Climate Change and Urban Greenspace, University of Manchester.

GILL, S., HANDLEY, J., ENNOS, R. and PAULEIT, S. (in press) Adapting cities for climate change: the role of the green infrastructure, *Built Environment*.

GILL, S., HANDLEY, J. F., PAULEIT, S., ENNOS, A. R., LINDLEY, S. J., GWILLIAM, J. and UEBERJAHN-TRITTA, A. (2004) *Literature review: Impacts of climate change on urban environments*, Centre for Urban and Regional Ecology, University of Manchester.

GLA (2005) Adapting to climate change: a checklist for development - Guidance for designing developments in a changing climate, London: Greater London Authority.

GREEN, N. (1999) Art and Complexity in London's East End, *Complexity*, 4(6), pp. 14-21. New York: Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

GREEN, N. (2005) Towards a definition of polycentricity in terms of network theory, and the visualisation of polycentricity using a GIS, Paper given at CUPUM 05: computers in urban planning and urban management, London: July 2005.

GRODZINS, M. (1960) *The metropolitan area as a racial problem,* Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.

GWILLIAM, J., FEDESKI, M., LINDLEY, S., THEURAY, N. and HANDLEY, J. F. (2006) Methods for assessing risk from climate hazards in urban areas, *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers*, 159(ME4), pp. 245-255. London: Institution of Civil Engineers.

HALL, P. (1973) The Containment of Urban England, London: Wiedenfeld & Nicolson.

HALL, P. (1988) Cities of Tomorrow, Oxford: Blackwell.

HALL, P. (1997) The future of the metropolis and its form, Regional Studies, 31, pp. 211-220.

HALL, P. and PAIN, K. (Eds.) (2006) *The Polycentric Metropolis: learning from mega-city regions in Europe*, London: Earthscan.

HALL, P., PAIN, K. and GREEN, N. (2006) *Anatomy of the Polycentric Metropolis: Eight mega-City Regions in Overview*, in: P. Hall and K. Pain (Eds.). The Polycentric Metropolis: learning from mega-city regions in Europe. pp. 19-52. London: Earthscan.

HALL, P. and WARD, C. (1998) *Sociable cities; the legacy of Ebenezer Howard*, Chichester: John Wiley.

HARRISON, C., BURGESS, J., MILLWARD, A. and DAWE, G. (1995) *Accessible natural green space in towns and cities: A review of appropriate size and distance criteria*, English Nature Research Reports No. 153, English Nature.

HERINGTON, J. (1991) Beyond Green Belts: Managing Urban Growth in the 21st Century, London: Jessica Kingsley/ Regional Studies Association.

HOUGH, M. (2004) Cities and Natural Process, (2nd edition ed.) London: Routledge.

HOWARD, E. (1898) To-morrow: A Path to Real Reform, London: Swan Sonnenschein.

HOWE, J. and WHITE, I. (2001) Sustainable urban drainage – a neglected area of planning, *Town & Country Planning*, pp. 242-244. London: Town and Country Planning Association.

HULME, M., JENKINS, G., LU, X., TURNPENNY, J., MITCHELL, T., JONES, R., LOWE, J., MURPHY, J., HASSELL, D., BOORMAN, P., MCDONALD, R. and HILL, S. (2002) *Climate Change Scenarios for the United Kingdom: The UKCIP02 Scientific Report*, April 2002, Norwich: Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia.

HUNT, J. (2004) How can cities mitigate and adapt to climate change? *Building Research and Information*, 32, pp. 55-57.

HUTCHINSON, D. (1992) *Towards Sustainability: The combined production of heat and power*, in: M. Breheny (Ed.) Sustainable development and urban form. London: Pion.

IPCC (2001) Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

JENKS, M., BURTON, E. and WILLIAMS, K. (Eds.) (1996) *The Compact City: A Sustainable Urban Form?* London: E & F N Spon.

LAND USE CONSULTANTS, OXFORD BROOKES UNIVERSITY, CAG CONSULTANTS and GARDINER & THEOBALD (2006) *Adapting to climate change impacts – A good practice guide for sustainable communities*, London: DEFRA.

LCCP (2002) London's Warming: The Impacts of Climate Change on London - Final technical Report, London: London Climate Change Partnership.

LOCK, D. (2006) Transport serves the town, not vice versa, *Town & Country Planning*, 75(7/8), pp. 203. London: Town and Country Planning Association.

MARTIN & VORHEES ASSOCIATES (1981) *Review of Rural Settlement Policies, 1945–80*, London: Martin & Vorhees Associates.

MAWSON, J. and TEWDWR-JONES, M. (1997) Green belts or green wedges for Wales? A flexible approach to planning in the urban periphery, *Regional Studies*, 31, pp. 73-78.

MCEVOY, D., LINDLEY, S. and HANDLEY, J. F. (2006) Adaptation and mitigation in urban areas: synergies and conflicts, *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers*, 159(ME4), pp. 185-191. London: Institution of Civil Engineers.

MENTENS, J., RAES, D. and HERMY, M. (2006) Green roofs as a tool for solving the rainwater runoff problem in the urbanized 21st century? *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, 77(3), pp. 217-226.

NEWMAN, P. and KENWORTHY, J. (1999) Sustainability and Cities: Overcoming Automobile Dependence, Washington DC: Island Press.

ORRSKOG, L. and SNICKARS, F. (1992) *On the Sustainability of Urban and Regional Structures*, in: M. Breheny (Ed.) Sustainable Development and Urban Form. London: Pion.

OWENS, S. (1986) Energy, Planning and Urban Form, London: Pion.

OWENS, S. E. (1992) Land-use planning for energy efficiency, *Applied Energy*, 43(1-3), pp. 81.

PAULEIT, S., ENNOS, R. and GOLDING, Y. (2005) Modelling the environmental impacts of urban land use and land cover change - a study in Merseyside, UK, *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, 71(2-4), pp. 295-310.

PAULEIT, S., GOLDING, Y. and HANDLEY, J. (2003) Framing Land Use Dynamics Conference, Utrecht.

RAVETZ, J. (2000) City Region: 2020: Integrated Planning for a Sustainable Environment, London: Earthscan.

RAVETZ, J. and MCEVOY, D. (2002) Sustainable Development of the Countryside around Towns, May 2002, Manchester: Centre for Urban & Regional Ecology, University of Manchester.

RED ROSE FOREST (no date) *Green Streets*, <a href="http://www.redroseforest.co.uk/forestpro/greenstreets.html">http://www.redroseforest.co.uk/forestpro/greenstreets.html</a>, site accessed 30th June 2006.

RICKABY, P. A. (1987) Six settlement patterns compared, *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 14(2), pp. 193-223. London: Pion.

RICKABY, P. A., STEADMAN, J. P. and BARRETT, M. (1992) *Patterns of Land use in English Towns: Implications for Energy Use and Carbon Dioxide Emissions*, in: M. Breheny (Ed.) Sustainable Development and Urban Form. London: Pion.

ROGERS, R. and POWER, A. (2000) Cities for a small country, London: Faber and Faber.

RTPI (2002) Modernising green belts, Discussion Paper, London: Royal Town Planning Institute.

RUELLE, D. (1997) Chaos, Predictability, and Idealization in Physics, *Complexity*, 3(1), pp. 26-28. New York: Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

SHOARD, M. (2002) *Edgelands*, in: J. Jenkins (Ed.) Remaking the Landscape: The changing face of Britain. pp. 117-146. London: Profile Books Ltd.

SIMMONDS, D. and COOMBE, D. (2000) *The Transport Implications of Alternative Urban Forms*, in: K. Williams, E. Burton and M. Jenks (Eds.). Achieving Sustainable Urban Form? London: E & FN Spon.

SOLUTIONS (2007) *SOLUTIONS - Sustainability Of Land Use and Transport In Outer Neighbourhoods*, <a href="http://www.suburbansolutions.ac.uk/index.aspx">http://www.suburbansolutions.ac.uk/index.aspx</a>, site accessed January 2007.

SWANWICK, C. and LAND USE CONSULTANTS (2002) *Landscape Character Assessment - Guidance for England and Scotland*, Wetherby, UK: The Countryside Agency and Scottish Natural Heritage.

TCPA (2002) *Green Belts – Policy Statement*, Policy Statement, London: Town and Country Planning Association.

TCPA (2003) Residential Densities – Policy Statement, London: Town and Country Planning Association.

URBED (2004) *Biodiversity by Design - a guide for sustainable communities,* A TCPA 'By Design' Guide, September 2004, London: Town and Country Planning Association.

VALLANCE, S., PERKINS, H. C. and MOORE, K. (2005) The results of making a city more compact, *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 32(5), pp. 715-733. Pion.

WEBB, J. (2004) The importance of traditional orchards for noble chafer (Gnorimus nobilis) and other wildlife - ecology, condition assessment and conservation management issues, Peterborough: English Nature.

WHITE, I. and HOWE, J. (2005) Unpacking the Barriers to Sustainable Urban Drainage Use, *Journal of Environmental Policy and Planning*, 7(1), pp. 25-41. London: Routledge.

WHITFORD, V., ENNOS, A. R. and HANDLEY, J. F. (2001a) "City form and natural process" – indicators for the ecological performance of urban areas and their application to Merseyside, UK, *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 57, pp. 91-103.

WHITFORD, V., ENNOS, A. R. and HANDLEY, J. F. (2001b) "City form and natural process" - indicators for the ecological performance of urban areas and their application to Merseyside, UK, *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, 57(2), pp. 91-103.

WILBY, R. L. (2003) Past and projected trends in London's urban heat island, *Weather*, 58(7), pp. 251-260.

WILLIAMS, K. (1999) Urban intensification policies in England: problems and contradictions, *Land Use Policy*, 16(3), pp. 167-178.

WILLIAMS, K. (2000) *Does Intensifying Cities Make them More Sustainable?* in: K. Williams, E. Burton and M. Jenks (Eds.). Achieving Sustainable Urban Form. pp. 30-45. London: E & FN Spon.

WILLIAMS, K., BURTON, E. and JENKS, M. (Eds.) (2000) *Achieving Sustainable Urban Form?* London: E & FN Spon.

WILSON, E. (2006) Adapting to Climate Change at the Local Level: The Spatial Planning Response, *Local Environment*, 11(6), pp. 609-625. London: Routledge.

ZUKIN, S. (1982) *Loft Living: culture and capital in urban change,* New York: John Hopkins University Press.

# 10 Extended Bibliography by Topic

Although not all the references listed here have been cited, they are relevant to any general discussion of settlement patterns that may extend beyond the boundaries set out by the brief. Note that where appropriate, references may appear under more than one topic heading.

# 10.1 Assessing Sustainability

Benson, D. and JORDON, A. (2004) Sustainability appraisal in local land use planning: patterns of current performance, *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 47(2): 269-286.

BROWN, A. and THÉRIVEL, R. (2000) Principles to guide the development of strategic environmental assessment methodology, *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 18(3), pp. 183-189.

FISCHER, T. (2002) Strategic Environmental Assessment in Transport and Land Use Planning, London: Earthscan.

GWILLIAM, J., FEDESKI, M., LINDLEY, S., THEURAY, N. and HANDLEY, J. F. (2006) Methods for assessing risk from climate hazards in urban areas, *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers*, 159(ME4), pp. 245-255. London: Institution of Civil Engineers.

HOWE, J. and WHITE, I. (2001) Sustainable urban drainage – a neglected area of planning, *Town & Country Planning*, pp. 242-244. London: Town and Country Planning Association.

SHORT, M., JONES, C., CARTER, J., BAKER, M. and WOOD, C. (2004) Current practice in the strategic environmental assessment of development plans in England, *Regional Studies*, 38(2), pp. 177-190.

SMITH, S. and SHEATE, W. (2001) Sustainability appraisal of Regional Planning Guidance and Regional Economic Strategies in England: an assessment, *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 44(5), pp. 735-755.

STINCHCOMBE, K. and GIBSON, R. (2001) Strategic environmental assessment as a means of pursuing sustainability: ten advantages and ten challenges, (?) pp 343-372, Journal of Environmental Assessment Policy and Management, 3(3).

SWANWICK, C. and LAND USE CONSULTANTS (2002) *Landscape Character Assessment - Guidance for England and Scotland*, Wetherby, UK: The Countryside Agency and Scottish Natural Heritage.

THERIVEL, R. (2004) Strategic Environmental Assessment in Action, London: Earthscan.

VERHEEM, R. and TONK, J. (2000) Strategic environmental assessment: one concept, multiple forms, *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 18(3), pp. 177-182.

WHITFORD, V., ENNOS, A. R. and HANDLEY, J. F. (2001) "City form and natural process" - indicators for the ecological performance of urban areas and their application to Merseyside, UK, *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, 57(2), pp. 91-103.

# 10.2 Planning and the Environment

BARKER, G. (1997) A Framework for the Future: Green networks with multiple uses in and around towns and cities, Peterborough: English Nature.

BENEDICT, M. A. and MCMAHON, E. T. (2002) Green Infrastructure: Smart Conservation for the 21st Century, *Renewable Resources Journal*, 20(3), pp. 12-17.

BLOWERS, A. (1993) *Planning for a Sustainable Environment: a Report by the Town and Country Planning Association*, London: Earthscan.

BULKELEY, H. and BETSILL, M. (2005) Rethinking Sustainable Cities: Multilevel Governance and the 'Urban' Politics of Climate Change, *Environmental Politics*, 14(1), pp. 42-63. London: Taylor & Francis.

DAVOUDI, S. (2000) Sustainability: a new vision for the British planning system, *Planning Perspectives*, 15, pp. 123-137.

DEFRA and ODPM (2004) Creating Sustainable Communities: Greening the Gateway, a greenspace strategy for Thames Gateway, London: Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY (2001) Water resources for the future: a strategy for England and Wales, March 2001, London, Environment Agency.

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY & WELSH GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION (2003) Management of flood risk, April 2003, Environment Agency & Welsh Government Association.

FRITH, M. (2002) Town and out, *Urbio*, 1(1), pp. 2.

GILBERT, O. L. (1989) *The Ecology of Urban Habitats*, London and New York: Chapman and Hall.

GILL, S. (2006) PhD Thesis, Climate Change and Urban Greenspace, University of Manchester.

HALL, P. (1988) Cities of Tomorrow, Oxford: Blackwell.

HARRISON, C., BURGESS, J., MILLWARD, A. and DAWE, G. (1995) *Accessible natural green space in towns and cities: A review of appropriate size and distance criteria*, English Nature Research Reports No. 153, English Nature.

JACOBS, M. (1993) Sense and Sustainability: Land Use Planning and Environmentally Sustainable Development, London: CPRE.

KENNY, M. and MEADOWCROFT, J. (1999) Planning for Sustainability, London: Routledge.

LAYARD, A., DAVOUDI, S. and BATTY, S. (Eds.) (2001) *Planning for a Sustainable Future*, London: Spon.

MENTENS, J., RAES, D. and HERMY, M. (2006) Green roofs as a tool for solving the rainwater runoff problem in the urbanized 21st century? *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, 77(3), pp. 217-226.

MILLER, C. (Ed.) (2001) *Planning and Environmental Protection: a Review of Law and Policy*, Oxford: Hart Publishing.

MURDOCH, J. (2004) Putting discourse in its place: planning, sustainability and the urban capacity study, *Area*, 36, pp. 50-58.

OWENS, S. E. (1992) Land-use planning for energy efficiency, *Applied Energy*, 43(1-3), pp. 81.

OWENS, S. (1997) Giants in the Path: planning, sustainability and environmental values, *Town Planning Review*, 68, pp. 293-304.

OWENS, S. and COWELL, R. (2001) Planning for sustainability: new orthodoxy or radical challenge? *Town & Country Planning*, 70, pp. 170-172.

OWENS, S. and COWELL, R. (2002) Land and Limits: Interpreting Sustainability in the Planning Process, London: Routledge.

PAULEIT, S., ENNOS, R. and GOLDING, Y. (2005) Modelling the environmental impacts of urban land use and land cover change - a study in Merseyside, UK, *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, 71(2-4), pp. 295-310.

PAULEIT, S., GOLDING, Y. and HANDLEY, J. (2003) Framing Land Use Dynamics Conference, Utrecht.

RAVETZ, J. (2000) City Region: 2020: Integrated Planning for a Sustainable Environment, London: Earthscan.

RED ROSE FOREST (no date) *Green Streets*, http://www.redroseforest.co.uk/forestpro/greenstreets.html, site accessed 30th June 2006.

ROYAL COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL POLLUTION (2002) *Twenty-third Report: Environmental Planning*, London: TSO.

RYDIN, Y. (2003) Conflict, Consensus and Rationality in Environmental Planning: An Institutional Discourse Approach, Oxford University Press:

URBED (2004) *Biodiversity by Design - a guide for sustainable communities*, A TCPA 'By Design' Guide, September 2004, London: Town and Country Planning Association.

WILBY, R. L. (2003) Past and projected trends in London's urban heat island, *Weather*, 58(7), pp. 251-260.

WOOD, C. (1999) Environmental Planning, in: J. Cullingworth (Ed.) British Planning: 50 Years of Urban and Regional Planning. London: Athlone Press.

# 10.3 Planning and the Market

ADAMS, D. (2003) Re-evaluating the concept of planned development, *Planning Theory and Practice*, 4, pp. 45-48.

ADAMS, D. AND WATKINS, C. (2002) *Greenfields, Brownfields and Housing Development*, Oxford: Blackwell Science.

ADAMS, D., WATKINS, C. and WHITE, M. (2005) *Planning, Public Policy and Property Markets*, Oxford: Blackwell.

AMIN, A. and THRIFT, N. (1999) An institutional perspective on regional economic development, *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 23, pp. 365-378.

BALL, M. (2006) Markets and Institutions in Real Estate and Construction, Oxford: Blackwell.

BALL, M. and MAGINN, P. J. (2005) Urban change and conflict: evaluating the role of partnerships in urban regeneration in the UK, *Housing Studies*, 2(1), pp. 9-28.

BARLOW, J. and KING, A. (1992) The state, the market, and competitive strategy: the housebuilding industry in the United Kingdom, France and Sweden", *Environment and Planning A*, 24, pp. 381-400.

BASSETT, K. (1996) Partnerships, Business Elites and Urban Politics: New Forms of Governance in an English City? *Urban Studies*, 33(3).

BRAMLEY, G., BARTLETT, W. and LAMBERT, C. (1995) *Planning, the Market and Private Housebuilding*, London: UCL Press.

BREHENY, M. (Ed.) (1997) *The People: Where Will They Work?* London: Town & Country Planning Association.

BREHENY, M. and HALL, P. (1999) *The People; Where Will They Live?* London: Town & Country Planning Association.

CARMONA, M., CARMONA, S. and GALLENT, N. (2003) *Delivering New Homes: Processes, planners and providers*, London: Routledge.

GREEN, N. (1999) Art and Complexity in London's East End, *Complexity*, 4(6), pp. 14-21. New York: Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

HALL, P. and WARD, C. (1998) *Sociable cities; the legacy of Ebenezer Howard*, Chichester: John Wiley.

HARVEY, D. (2001) From managerialism to entrepreneuralism: the transformation in urban governance in late capitalism in Spaces of Capital: Towards a Critical Geography, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

HASTINGS, A. (1996) Unravelling the Process of 'Partnership' in Urban Regeneration Policy, *Urban Studies*, 33, pp. 253-268.

HEALEY, P., CAMERON, S., DAVOUDI, S., GRAHAM, S. and MADANIPOUR, A. (1995) *Managing Cities: The New Urban Context*, Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

HOWARD, E. (1898) To-morrow: A Path to Real Reform, London: Swan Sonnenschein.

RACO, M. (2003) Assessing the discourses and practices of urban regeneration in a growing region, *Geoforum*, 34, pp. 37-55.

RACO, M. and IMRIE, R. (2003) *Towards an Urban Renaissance? Sustainable Communities*, New Labour and Urban Policy,

RUELLE, D. (1997) Chaos, Predictability, and Idealization in Physics, *Complexity*, 3(1), pp. 26-28. New York: Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

# 10.4 Polycentric Settlement Growth

ALBRECHTS, L., HEALEY, P. and KUNZMANN, K. R. (2003) Strategic spatial planning and regional governance in Europe, *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 69, pp. 113-117.

CHAMPION, A. G. (1989) Counterurbanization in Britain, *Geographical Journal*, 155, pp. 52-59. London.

CHAMPION, A. G. (2001) A Changing Demographic Regime and Evolving Polycentric Urban Regions: Consequences for the Size, Composition and Distribution of City Populations, *Urban Studies*, 38(4), pp. 657-677. London: Routledge.

DAVOUDI, S. (2003) Polycentricity in European spatial planning: from an analytical tool to a normative agenda, *European Planning Studies*, 11(8), pp. 979 - 999.

FALUDI, A. (2001) The application of the European Spatial Development Perspective: evidence from the North-West Metropolitan Area, *European Planning Studies*, 9(5), pp. 663-675.

GREEN, N. (2005) Towards a definition of polycentricity in terms of network theory, and the visualisation of polycentricity using a GIS, Paper given at CUPUM 05: computers in urban planning and urban management, London: July 2005.

HALL, P. and PAIN, K. (Eds.) (2006) *The Polycentric Metropolis: learning from mega-city regions in Europe*, London: Earthscan.

HALL, P., PAIN, K. and GREEN, N. (2006) *Anatomy of the Polycentric Metropolis: Eight mega-City Regions in Overview*, in: P. Hall and K. Pain (Eds.). The Polycentric Metropolis: learning from mega-city regions in Europe. pp. 19-52. London: Earthscan.

KLOOSTERMAN, R. and MUSTERD, S. (2001) The polycentric urban region: towards a research agenda, *Urban Studies*, 38(4), pp. 623-633.

ORRSKOG, L. and SNICKARS, F. (1992) *On the Sustainability of Urban and Regional Structures*, in: M. Breheny (Ed.) Sustainable Development and Urban Form. London: Pion.

PARR, J. (2004) The polycentric urban region: a closer inspection, *Regional Studies*, 38(3), pp. 231-240.

PARR, J. (2005) Perspectives on the city-region, Regional Studies, 39(5), pp. 555-566.

TEWDWR-JONES, M. and WILLIAMS, R. (2001) *The European Dimension of British Planning*, London: Spon.

TUROK, I. (2004) Cities, regions and competitiveness, Regional Studies, 38(9), pp. 1069-1083.

TUROK, I. and BAILEY, N. (2004) The theory of polynuclear urban regions and its application to central Scotland, *European Planning Studies*, 12(3), pp. 371-389.

WILLIAM, R. (2000) Constructing the European Spatial Development Perspective - for whom? *European Planning Studies*, 8(3), pp. 357-365.

#### 10.5 Rural Settlements

AMOS, C. (1990) New Settlements and Strategic Planning: Approaches to New Settlements in Structure Plan Reviews, Loughborough: Loughborough University.

CERVERO, R. (1995) Planned communities, self-containment and commuting: a cross-national perspective, *Urban Studies*, 32, pp. 1135-1161.

CLOKE, P. J. (1979) Key Settlements in Rural Areas, London: Methuen & Co.

CLOKE, P. J. (1983) An Introduction to Rural Settlement Planning, London: Methuen & Co.

COURTNEY, P. and ERRINGTON, P. (2000) The role of small towns in the local economy and some implications for development policy, *Local Economy*, 15, pp. 280-301.

ELSON, M. (1986) Green Belts: Conflict Mediation in the Urban Fringe, London: Heinemann.

ELSON, M., STEENBURG, C. and MENDHAM, N. (1996) *Green Belts and Affordable Housing: Can We Have Both?* Bristol: Policy Press.

ELSON, M., WALKER, S. and MACDONALD, R. (1993) *The Effectiveness of Green Belts*, London: HMSO.

GALLENT, N., BIANCONI, M. and ANDERSSON, J. (2006) Planning on the edge: England's rural-urban fringe and the spatial-planning agenda, *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 33(3), pp. 457-476. London: Pion.

GALLENT, N., SHUCKSMITH, M. and TEWDWR-JONES, M. (Eds.) (2003) *Housing in the European Countryside: Rural Policy and Pressure In Western Europe*, London: Routledge.

\*MARSDEN, T. K., EKLUND, E. and FRANKLIN, A. (2004) Rural mobilisation and rural development: exploring the impacts of new regionalism in Wales and Finland, 9, pp. 79-100.

MARTIN & VORHEES ASSOCIATES (1981) *Review of Rural Settlement Policies, 1945–80*, London, Martin & Vorhees Associates.

MAWSON, J. and TEWDWR-JONES, M. (1997) Green belts or green wedges for Wales? A flexible approach to planning in the urban periphery, *Regional Studies*, 31, pp. 73-78.

NEW SETTLEMENT RESEARCH GROUP (1991) *The Social Impact of New Settlements: A Literature Review,* Loughborough: Loughborough University.

OWENS, S. (1996) Sustainability and rural settlement planning, *Planning Practice and Research*, 11(1), pp. 37-48.

POWE, N. A. and WHITBY, M. C. (1994) Settlement costs revisited, *Local Government Studies*, 20(1), pp. 24-33.

SATSANGI, M. and DUNMORE, K. (2003) The planning system and the provision of affordable housing in rural Britain: a comparison of the Scottish and English experience, *Housing Studies*, 18(2), pp. 201-217.

SHUCKSMITH, M. (1990) Housebuilding in Britain's countryside, London: Routledge.

STOCKDALE, A. and LLOYD, G. (1998) Forgotten needs? the demographic and socio-economic impact of free-standing new settlements, *Housing Studies*, 13(1), pp. 43-58.

WALTERS, J. (2000) *New settlements - planning, policies and politics: a case study in Berkshire*, Oxford Brookes University: School of Planning:

# 10.6 Sustainable Settlements and Transport

BANISTER, D., WATSON, S. and WOOD, C. (1997) Sustainable cities: transport, energy and urban form, *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 24, pp. 125-143.

BANISTER, D. (2005) *Unsustainable Transport - city transport in the new century*, Abingdon, Oxfordshire: Routledge.

BARTON, H. (1992) Is transport a delight (?) Applied Energy, 43(1-3), pp. 67.

BARTON, H., DAVIS, G. and GUISE, R. (1995) *Sustainable settlements: a guide for planners, designers and developers*, Bristol: University of the West of England/Local Government Management Board.

Breheny, M. (Ed.) (1992) Sustainable development and urban form, London: Pion.

Breheny, M., Gent, T. and Lock, D. (1993) *Alternative Development Patterns: New Settlements*, London: HMSO.

CAMAGNI, R., GIBELLI, M. and RIGAMONTI, C. (2002) Urban mobility and urban form: the social and environmental costs of different patterns of urban expansion, *Ecological Economics*, 40, pp. 199-216.

CERVERO, R. (1995) Stockholm's rail-served satellites, Cities, 12(1), pp. 41-51. London: Elsevier.

GUY, S. and MARVIN, S. (1999) Understanding sustainable cities: competing urban futures, *European Urban and Regional Studies*, 6, pp. 268-275.

HALL, P. (1997) The future of the metropolis and its form, Regional Studies, 31, pp. 211-220.

HALL, P. and WARD, C. (1998) *Sociable cities; the legacy of Ebenezer Howard,* Chichester: John Wiley.

HAUGHTON, G. and TURNER, C. (1994) *Sustainable Cities*, London: Jessica Kingsley/Regional Studies Association.

LOCK, D. (2006) Transport serves the town, not vice versa, *Town & Country Planning*, 75(7/8), pp. 203. London: Town and Country Planning Association.

MOSS, T., GUY, S. and MARVIN, S. (2001) *Urban Infrastructure in Transition: Networks, Buildings, Plans*, London: Earthscan.

NEWMAN, P. and KENWORTHY, J. (1999) Sustainability and Cities: Overcoming Automobile Dependence, Washington DC: Island Press.

OWENS, S. (1986) Energy, Planning and Urban Form, London: Pion.

RICKABY, P. A. (1987) Six settlement patterns compared, *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 14(2), pp. 193-223. London: Pion.

RICKABY, P. A., STEADMAN, J. P. and BARRETT, M. (1992) *Patterns of Land use in English Towns: Implications for Energy Use and Carbon Dioxide Emissions*, in: M. Breheny (Ed.) Sustainable Development and Urban Form. London: Pion.

SIMMONDS, D. and COOMBE, D. (2000) *The Transport Implications of Alternative Urban Forms*, in: K. Williams, E. Burton and M. Jenks (Eds.). Achieving Sustainable Urban Form? London: E & FN Spon.

SOLUTIONS (2007) *SOLUTIONS - Sustainability Of Land Use and Transport In Outer Neighbourhoods*, <a href="http://www.suburbansolutions.ac.uk/index.aspx">http://www.suburbansolutions.ac.uk/index.aspx</a>, site accessed January 2007.

# 10.7 Urban Expansion

BURCHILL, R. (1995) *The Costs of Urban Sprawl: Economic Impacts of Unchecked Development*, Washington: Island Press.

CAMAGNI, R., GIBELLI, M. and AND RIGAMONTI, C. (2002) Urban mobility and urban form: the social and environmental costs of different patterns of urban expansion, *Ecological Economics*, 40, pp. 199-216.

CARRUTHERS, J. and ULFARSSON, G. (2003) Urban sprawl and the cost of public services, *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 30(4), pp. 503-502.

COUNTRYSIDE AGENCY (2002) Sustainable development in the countryside around towns, Wetherby: Countryside Agency.

ELSON, M. (1986) Green Belts: Conflict Mediation in the Urban Fringe, London: Heinemann.

ELSON, M., STEENBURG, C. and MENDHAM, N. (1996) *Green Belts and Affordable Housing: Can We Have Both?* Bristol: Policy Press.

ELSON, M., WALKER, S. and MACDONALD, R. (1993) *The Effectiveness of Green Belts*, London: HMSO.

EVANS, A. (1988) *No room! No room!* Occasional Paper 79, London, Institute of Economic Affairs.

HALL, P. (1973) The Containment of Urban England, London: Wiedenfeld & Nicolson.

HALL, P. (1997) The future of the metropolis and its form, *Regional Studies*, 31, pp. 211-220.

HERINGTON, J. (1984) The Outer City, London: Harper & Row.

HERINGTON, J. (1991) *Beyond Green Belts: Managing Urban Growth in the 21st Century*, London: Jessica Kingsley/Regional Studies Association.

SHOARD, M. (2002) *Edgelands*, in: J. Jenkins (Ed.) Remaking the Landscape: The changing face of Britain. pp. 117-146. London: Profile Books Ltd.

JOHNSON, M. P. (2001) Environmental impacts of urban sprawl: a survey of the literature and proposed research agenda, *Environment and Planning A*, 33(4), pp. 717-735.

MAWSON, J. and TEWDWR-JONES, M. (1997) Green belts or green wedges for Wales? A flexible approach to planning in the urban periphery, *Regional Studies*, 31, pp. 73-78.

ORRSKOG, L. and SNICKARS, F. (1992) *On the Sustainability of Urban and Regional Structures*, in: M. Breheny (Ed.) Sustainable Development and Urban Form. London: Pion.

PEISER, R. (2001) Decomposing urban sprawl, Town Planning Review, 72, pp. 275-289.

POWER, A. (2001) Social exclusion and urban sprawl: is the rescue of cities possible? *Regional Studies*, 8(1), pp. 731-742.

RTPI (2002) Modernising green belts, Discussion Paper, London, Royal Town Planning Institute.

TCPA (2002) *Green Belts – Policy Statement,* Policy Statement, London, Town and Country Planning Association.

#### 10.8 Urban Intensification

BREHENY, M. (1992b) *The Contradictions of the Compact City: A Review*, in: M. Breheny (Ed.) Sustainable Development and Urban Form. pp. 138-159. London: Pion.

BREHENY, M. (1995) Compact cities and transport energy consumption, *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 20(1) London: Institute of British Geographers.

BURTON, E. (2000) The compact city: just or just compact? a preliminary analysis, *Urban Studies*, 37(11), pp. 1969-2000. London.

DE ROO, G. and MILLER, D. (2000) Compact Cities and Sustainable Urban Development: a Critical Assessment of Policies and Plans from an International Perspective, Aldershot: Ashgate.

GEURS, K. and WEE, B. (2006) Ex post evaluation of 30 years of compact urban development in the Netherlands,

GORDON, P. and RICHARDSON, H. (1997) Are compact cities a desirable planning goal? *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 63(1), pp. 95-1006.

JENKS, M., BURTON, E. and WILLIAMS, K. (Eds.) (1996) *The Compact City: A Sustainable Urban Form?* London: E & F N Spon.

ROGERS, R. and POWER, A. (2000) Cities for a small country, London: Faber and Faber.

TCPA (2003) Residential Densities – Policy Statement, London, Town and Country Planning Association.

VALLANCE, S., PERKINS, H. C. and MOORE, K. (2005) The results of making a city more compact, *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 32(5), pp. 715-733. Pion.

WILLIAMS, K. (1999) Urban intensification policies in England: problems and contradictions, *Land Use Policy*, 16(3), pp. 167-178.

WILLIAMS, K. (2000) *Does Intensifying Cities Make them More Sustainable?* in: K. Williams, E. Burton and M. Jenks (Eds.). Achieving Sustainable Urban Form. pp. 30-45. London: E & FN Spon.

WILLIAMS, K., BURTON, E. and JENKS, M. (Eds.) (2000) *Achieving Sustainable Urban Form?* London: E & FN Spon.

ZUKIN, S. (1982) *Loft Living: culture and capital in urban change,* New York: John Hopkins University Press.

## 10.9 Climate Change

AKASAKA, H., NIMIYA, H. and SOGA, K. (2002) Influence of heat island phenomenon on building heat load, *Building Services Engineering Research and Technology*, 2, pp. 269-278.

ANDERSON, H. R., DERWENT, R. G. and STEDMAN, J. (2002) *Air Pollution and Climate Change*, in: Health Effects of Climate Change. http://www.doh.gov.uk: Department of Health.

ARNELL, N. W. (1998) Climate change and water resources in Britain, *Climatic Change*, 39, pp. 83-110.

ARNFIELD, A.J. (2003) Two decades of urban climate research: A review of turbulence, exchanges of energy and water, and the urban heat island, *International Journal of Climatology*, 23, 1-26

ASHLEY, R. M., BALMFORTH, D. J., SAUL, A. J. and BLANSKBY, J. D. (2005) Flooding in the future – predicting climate change, risks and responses in urban areas, *Water, Science and Technology*, 52, pp. 265-273.

BAXTER, P. J., MOLLER, I., SPENCER, T., SPENCE, R. J. and TAPSELL, S. (2002) *Flooding and climate change*, in: Health Effects of Climate Change. http://www.doh.gov.uk: Department of Health.

BISGROVE, R. and HADLEY, P. (2002) *Gardening in the Global Greenhouse: The Impacts of Climate Change on Gardens in the UK*, Oxford: UKCIP.

BOWER, J. S., BROUGHTON, G. F. J., STEDMAN, J. R. and WILLIAMS, M. L. (1994) A winter NO2 smog episode in the UK, *Atmospheric Environment*, 28, pp. 461-475.

BRIDGMAN, H., WARNER, R. and DODSON, J. (1995) *Urban Biophysical Environments*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

BRONSTERT, A., NIEHOFF, D. and BURGER, G. (2002) Effects of climate and land-use change on storm runoff generation: present knowledge and modelling capabilities, *Hydrological Processes*, 16, pp. 509-529.

BROWN, R. D. and GILLESPIE, T. J. (1995) *Microclimate Landscape design: Creating Thermal Comfort and Energy Efficiency*, Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

CARTER, T. and JACKSON, C. R. (2006) Vegetated roofs for stormwater management at multiple spatial scales, *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, In Press, Corrected Proof, pp.doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2006.1005.

DIMOUDI, A. and NIKOLOPOULOU, M. (2003) Vegetation in the urban environment: microclimatic analysis and benefits, *Energy and Buildings*, 35(1), pp. 69-76.

ELIASSON, I. (2000) The use of climate knowledge in urban planning, *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 48, pp. 31-44.

GILL, S. (2006) PhD Thesis, Climate Change and Urban Greenspace, University of Manchester.

GILL, S., HANDLEY, J., ENNOS, R. and PAULEIT, S. (in press) Adapting cities for climate change: the role of the green infrastructure, *Built Environment*.

GILL, S., HANDLEY, J. F., PAULEIT, S., ENNOS, A. R., LINDLEY, S. J., GWILLIAM, J. and UEBERJAHN-TRITTA, A. (2004) *Literature review: Impacts of climate change on urban environments*, Centre for Urban and Regional Ecology, University of Manchester.

GÓMEZ, F., TAMARIT, N. and JABALOYES, J. (2001) Green zones, bioclimatics studies and human comfort in future development of urban planning, *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 55, pp. 151-161.

HACKER, J. N., BELCHER, S. E. and CONNELL, R. K. (2005) *Beating the Heat: keeping UK buildings cool in a warming climate*, UKCIP Briefing Report, Oxford: UK Climate Impacts Programme.

HM GOVERNMENT (2006) Climate Change: The UK Programme, London: HMSO.

HOLLIS, G.E. (1988) Rain, roads and runoff: hydrology in cities, Geography, 73, 9-18.

HULME, M., JENKINS, G. J., LU, X., TURNPENNY, J. R., MITCHELL, T. D., JONES, R. G., LOWE, J., MURPHY, J. M., HASSELL, D., BOORMAN, P., MCDONALD, R. and HILL, S. (2002) *Climate Change Scenarios for the United Kingdom: The UKCIP02 Scientific Report,* Norwich, UK: Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia.

HUNT, J. (2004) How can cities mitigate and adapt to climate change? *Building Research and Information*, 32, pp. 55-57.

HUTCHINSON, D. (1992) *Towards Sustainability: The combined production of heat and power*, in: M. Breheny (Ed.) Sustainable development and urban form. London: Pion.

IPCC (2001) Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.

KAUFMAN, M. M. and MARSH, W. M. (1997) Hydro-ecological implications of edge cities, *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 36, pp. 277-290.

LAND USE CONSULTANTS, OXFORD BROOKES UNIVERSITY, CAG CONSULTANTS and GARDINER & THEOBALD (2006) *Adapting to climate change impacts – A good practice guide for sustainable communities*, London: DEFRA.

LCCP (2002) *London's Warming: The Impacts of Climate Change on London*, London: London Climate Change Partnership.

LONDON CLIMATE CHANGE PARTNERSHIP (2006) Adapting to climate change: Lessons for London, London: Greater London Authority.

LINDLEY, S. J., HANDLEY, J. F., THEURAY, N., PEET, E. and MCEVOY, D. (2006) Adaptation strategies for climate change in the urban environment: assessing climate change related risk in UK urban areas, *Journal of Risk Research*, 9(5), pp. 1-26.

MCEVOY, D., LINDLEY, S. and HANDLEY, J. F. (2006) Adaptation and mitigation in urban areas: synergies and conflicts, *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers*, 159(ME4), pp. 185-191. London: Institution of Civil Engineers.

MENTENS, J., RAES, D. and HERMY, M. (2006) Green roofs as a tool for solving the rainwater runoff problem in the urbanized 21st century? *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, 77(3), pp. 217-226.

MILLS, G. (2006) Progress towards sustainable settlements: a role for urban climatology, *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 84, 69-76.

MILLY, P. C. D., WETHERALD, R. T., DUNNE, K. A. and DELWORTH, T. L. (2002) Increasing risk of great floods in a changing climate, *Nature*, 415, pp. 514-517.

NOWAK, D. J. and CRANE, D. E. (2002) Carbon storage and sequestration by urban trees in the USA, *Environmental Pollution*, 116, pp. 381-189.

PALUTIKOF, J., SUBAK, S. and AGNEW, M. (Eds.) (1997) *Economic Impacts of the Hot Summer and Unusually Warm Year of 1995*, Norwich: CRU.

PAULEIT, S. and DUHME, F. (2000) Assessing the environmental performance of land cover types for urban planning, *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 52, pp. 1-20.

REACHER, M., MCKENZIE, K., LANE, C., NICHOLS, T., KEDGE, I., IVERSEN, A., HEPPLE, P., WALTER, T., LAXTON, C. and SIMPSON, J. (2004) Health impacts of flooding in Lewes: a comparison of reported gastrointestinal and other illness and mental health in flooded and non-flooded households, *Communicable Disease and Public Health*, 7(1), pp. 1-8.

SANTOS, R. and BOAS, M. (2000) *Urban morphology and thermal comfort conditions in the central area of Belo Horizonte*, Cambridge, UK:

SCHAR, C., VIDALE, P. L., LOTHI, D., FREI, C., HäBERLI, C., LINIGER, M. A. and APPENZELLER, C. (2004) The role of increasing temperature variability in European summer heatwaves, *Nature*, 427, pp. 332-336.

SHASHUA-BAR, L. and HOFFMAN, M. E. (2003) Geometry and orientation aspects in passive cooling of canyon streets with trees, *Energy and Buildings*, 35(1), pp. 61-68.

SHIMODA, Y. (2003) Adaptation measures for climate change and the urban heat island in Japan's built environment, *Building Research and Information*, 3/4, pp. 222-230.

SOLECKI, W. D., ROSENZWEIG, C., PARSHALL, L., POPE, G., CLARK, M., COX, J. and WIENCKE, M. (2005) Mitigation of the heat island effect in urban New Jersey, *Global Environmental Change Part B: Environmental Hazards*, 6(1), pp. 39-49.

SPENCE, R., FAWCETT, W. and BROWN, A. (1998) The windstorm vulnerability of the UK building stock.

SVENSSON, M. K. and ELIASSON, I. (2002) Diurnal air temperatures in built-up areas in relation to urban planning, *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, 61(1), pp. 37-54.

WHITFORD, V., ENNOS, A. R. and HANDLEY, J. F. (2001) "City form and natural process" – indicators for the ecological performance of urban areas and their application to Merseyside, UK, *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 57, pp. 91-103.

WILBY, R. L. (2003) Past and projected trends in London's urban heat island, *Weather*, 58(7), pp. 251-260.

WILBY, R. L. and PERRY, G. L. W. (2006) Climate change, biodiversity and the urban environment: a critical review based on London, UK, *Prog. Phys. Geogr.*, 30(1), pp. 73-98.

ZACHARIAS, J., STATHOPOULOS, T. and Wu, H. (2001) Microclimate and downtown open space activity, *Environment and Behavior*, 33, pp. 296-315.

# 11 Appendices

# 11.1 Appendix 1 - Project Brief (July 2006)<sup>13</sup>

## 11.1.1 Purpose

DCLG Communities and Local Government wish to commission the Planning Research Network to undertake a literature review. The review will look at the impacts of different settlement patterns to accommodate further growth, in order to update our understanding of available research and findings. It is intended that the review will help inform the development of the forthcoming planning policy statement (PPS) on climate change and will provide information of value to the Barker Review of Land Use Planning.

# 11.1.2 Background

Planning has a key role to play in delivering sustainable development. The key principles for ensuring planning decisions contribute to sustainable development are set out in paragraph 13 of PPS1 – Delivering Sustainable Development. In setting the general approach expected from planning authorities PPS1 underlines the importance of:

- focussing developments that attract a large number of people, especially retail, leisure and office development in existing centres to promote their vitality and viability, social inclusion and more sustainable patterns of development;
- reducing the need to travel and encouraging accessible public transport provision to secure
  more sustainable patterns of transport development. Planning is expected to manage patterns of
  urban growth actively to make the fullest use of public transport and focus development in
  existing town centres and near to major public transport interchanges;
- promoting the more efficient use of land through higher density, mixed use development and the use of suitably located previously developed land and buildings.

A growing challenge in ensuring sustainable development is climate change. In March 2006 the Government announced its intention to develop a PPS on climate change which will set out how the Government expects participants in the planning process to work towards the reduction of carbon emissions in the location, siting and design of new development. There is stakeholder concern that the PPS should also consider the planning response to adapting to the change in climate we can already reasonably expect. The aim is to consult on a draft of the PPS later in 2006.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Formatting has been changed to match remainder of this document.

#### 11.1.3 Scope

Drawing from available literature and emerging work about spatial planning and growth<sup>14</sup>, the review will contribute to our understanding of the social, economic and environmental implications of accommodating growth in different spatial forms in rural and urban contexts. The review should address the following research questions.

For different spatial forms of development and growth, including 15:

- a) infill of existing urban areas ("intensification");
- b) extension of existing urban areas on the margins;
- c) 'key villages' approach (extension of key existing, outlying settlements);
- d) balanced growth of all existing settlements;
- e) entirely new settlements;

assess the different type of impacts, their scale and any inherent risks against the following criteria:

#### 11.1.3.1 Economic criteria

- Cost of the end product
- Economy in the provision and use of infrastructure
- Maintenance costs
- Access to employment
- Potential to generate economic growth within the settlement
- Potential to regenerate depressed areas
- Economic viability of public services
- Road congestion

# 11.1.3.2 Social criteria

- Access to social facilities (social inclusion)
- Potential sense of community

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> DCLG will submit references for key known research and proposals for other areas to consider, for instance, the European Union's research programmes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> It may be appropriate to include additional spatial forms of development suggested by the literature such as the Dutch model of poly-centric settlement.

- Breadth of social mix
- Potential affordable housing contribution
- Local acceptability
- Quality of life / local satisfaction with neighbourhood
- Impacts on different social groups
- Car dependency
- Human health

#### 11.1.3.3 Environmental criteria

- Loss of land
- Loss of natural habitats and impact on biodiversity
- Energy consumption transport (mode and distance travelled, associated CO<sub>2</sub> emissions)
- Energy consumption space heating and cooling, lighting, use of renewables (and associated CO<sub>2</sub> emissions)
- Pollution (air quality, noise)
- Contribution to 'greening' the urban environment
- Town-cramming effect
- Thermal comfort (heat island effect)
- Impact of environmental hazards (flooding, storms)

The criteria are not intended to be exhaustive and the trawl of available literature may suggest they should be added to.

Urban density (in terms of built development, occupation and population) and the location and concentration of major trip generating developments (e.g. retail stores) are intrinsically linked to the impacts that arise from and in these different spatial forms of development, and in some cases, could be equally important factors in determining impacts. The literature review should include these factors in the overall discussion and analysis together with a consideration of settlement size.

# 11.1.4 Methodology Issues

In addressing the questions set out above, the review should draw out the assumptions made in the literature where these are relevant to the research findings, the robustness of the evidence

underpinning available research and competing claims from differing research. The review should be clear and transparent about key methodological issues such as:

- difficulties in quantifying effects and impacts;
- the transferability of older and international research to the current UK situation;
- differences in definition of key terms and concepts such as, "intensification", "urban sprawl", "high density development".

#### 11.1.5 Outputs

The review should be bought together in a written document with a clear stand alone summary. (no more than 8 pages - DCLG may propose a summary template or matrix for the review). In addition, there should be a well presented bibliography.

The focus should be on identifying key messages for policy makers and ensuring that the review picks up the major key research on these issues. Where there is no consensus on the issues, it will be helpful to comment on the relative degree of support for the different positions.

Key outputs of the review will be:

- the key criteria to consider when evaluating different settlement patterns, both at a local level and also at a regional level;
- any thresholds at which spatial form, density, settlement size and the concentration of
  different functions have different impacts on the criteria and evidence for any tipping
  points (e.g. establishing car dependency, reducing quality of life through over-crowding,
  the size of settlement needed to support local services, the degree of mixing of different
  functions necessary for a successful community);
- the expected timing of the impacts arising (short, medium or long-term);
- measures that have been used or proposed to mitigate any negative effects that are a sideeffect of a potential benefit;
- to the extent possible, an indication of whether the planning process is the most cost effective and appropriate delivery vehicle for achieving a particular beneficial outcome in practice;
- evidence for recommendations for the spatial form, densities, concentration and location of functions that produce the biggest overall net benefit.

The findings will be presented to DCLG and also to academics, policy colleagues and government analysts at a Planning Research Network seminar later in the year.

# 11.1.6 Timing

The first stage of the work is to provide a list of key literature. For the second stage, the analysis of the literature, there is a need to 'fast track' consolidation of the material addressing climate change issues. Analysis on climate change issues should be provided as soon as it is available. The draft final report for the whole project should be delivered by the end of September.

# 11.2 Appendix 2 – Summary of CURE Literature Review on Impacts of Climate Change on Urban Environments (Gill et al, 2004)

The research project on *Adaptation Strategies for Climate Change in the Urban Environment* (ASCCUE) is part of the Engineering and Physical Science Research Council's *Building Knowledge for a Changing Climate* initiative. A literature review for the ASCCUE project (Gill *et al.*, 2004) followed the 'Driver-Pressure-State-Impact-Response' framework of the European Environment Agency (EEA, 2003). The main findings were:

- The key drivers of change in the urban environment are greenhouse gas emissions, lifestyle changes, and urban development. These drivers act in conjunction with each other as well as with other environmental, socio-economic and political drivers.
- The drivers exert pressures on the urban system, which again act both independently and in conjunction with each other to produce impacts. Pressures not only result from changes *per se*, but crucially depend on other factors including climate variability and extreme events. Climate change in the UK will result in warmer wetter winters and hotter drier summers, with an increased occurrence of extreme events such as heatwaves and intense precipitation. In addition, urban intensification, which is partly dependent on lifestyle choices, reduces greenspace cover and puts pressure on the urban ecosystem, impacting on, for example, surface temperatures and stormwater runoff.
- The severity of the impacts of climate change depends upon the state of the urban environment. In particular, urban environments already have their own distinctive microclimate, air quality and hydrological regimes. Climate change tends to reinforce this distinctiveness by intensifying the urban heat island effect and surface run-off of rainfall. The green space to built surfaces ratio is therefore important for the environmental functionality of urban areas.
- Climate change impacts on air quality (e.g. decreased mean and episodic winter concentrations of particles, NO<sub>2</sub> and SO<sub>2</sub>, increased summer ozone episodes), hydrology (e.g. altered river flows, decreased annual and summer average soil moisture, changes to surface runoff, flooding), urban green space (e.g. changes to species range, phenology, physiology and behaviour, susceptibility to drought, increased irrigation demands, increasing importance for reducing flooding and temperatures and meeting recreational demand), human comfort and health (e.g. winter comfort increases and mortality decreases, more heat stress in summer which may result in deaths within vulnerable populations), and building integrity (e.g. through wind, driving rain, subsidence and soil movement, flooding).

The response to these impacts involves measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, ensuring that pressures are not intensified by inappropriate development and improving the state of the built

environment and preparedness in the face of extreme events, so as to reduce climate-related impacts.

# 11.3 Appendix 3 – Summary Table from (LCCP, 2002)

Higher Temperatures	• There is likely to be an increase in the demand for cooling and thus for electricity in summer.
	<ul> <li>Against this, there will be a reduction in demand for winter heating providing a financial advantage for bill payers and reducing incidences of fuel poverty.</li> </ul>
Flooding	• Increased risk of flooding is expected for many parts of London.
	• More frequent intense winter rainfalls are expected to increase the likelihood of flooding by rivers and flash flooding when urban drainage systems become overwhelmed.
	• Rising sea levels and possible increased winter storminess would require more closures of the Thames Barrier.
Water Resources	Water demand will be heightened during hot, dry summers.
	<ul> <li>Longer summers with higher temperatures and lower rainfall will reduce soil moisture and the chance to replenish groundwater supplies.</li> </ul>
	• River flows are likely to be lower in summer and higher in winter.
	• Lower river flows in summer will raise water temperatures and aggravate water quality problems in the Thames and its tributaries, especially following heavy summer storms.
Health	• Poorer air quality poses health problems for asthmatics as well as causing damage to plants and buildings.
	Higher levels of mortality related to summer heat stress are expected.
	• Higher winter temperatures would be likely to lead to a reduction in winter cold spell related mortality.
Biodiversity	<ul> <li>Warmer weather would favour conditions for increased competition from exotic species as well as the spread of disease and pests, affecting both fauna and flora.</li> </ul>
	Rising sea levels will threaten rare saltmarsh habitats.
	<ul> <li>Increased summer drought will cause stress to wetlands and beech woodland.</li> </ul>
	• Earlier springs, longer frost-free seasons and reduced snowfall could affect dates of bird egg-laying, as well as the emergence, first flowering and health of leafing or flowering plants.
Built Environment	The building industry will be likely to benefit from an increased number of available construction days.
	Subsidence will worsen as clay soils dry out in summer and autumn.
	• Alternate wetting of clays in winter and drying of clays in summer may cause increased ground movement resulting i increased potential for damage to underground pipes and cables.
	<ul> <li>Increased temperatures will reduce comfort of occupants in domestic, commercial and public buildings, and could lead to business disruption.</li> </ul>
Transport	<ul> <li>London's transport system and ancillary services are vulnerable to disruption from flooding and other extreme weather events that are expected to increase in frequency and intensity.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Increased temperatures on the London Underground, exacerbated by the urban heat island effect, will lead to passenger discomfort.</li> </ul>
	• Hotter summers may damage elements of transport infrastructure, causing buckled rails and rutted roads, with their attendant disruption and repair costs.
	Higher temperatures will lead to a reduction in cold weather-related disruption.
Business & Finance	<ul> <li>The London insurance industry could be exposed to an increased volume of claims from wind storms and flood events.</li> </ul>
	• Lower income households may find it more difficult to access adequate insurance cover in the face of increased floor risk.
	<ul> <li>The risk management of potential climate change impacts may provide significant opportunities for London businesses.</li> </ul>
Tourism	• Increased temperatures could attract more visitors to London, benefiting the tourist sector.
	• Leisure and recreational facilities and tourist attractions will need to be able to cope with climate change by providing a pleasant environment for visitors.
	<ul> <li>High temperatures could lead to residents leaving London in search of a more comfortable environment on holidays or breaks.</li> </ul>
Lifestyle	Outdoor living may be more favoured, although some members of society may be less able to take advantage of this due to lack of facilities locally, fear of crime or other forms of social exclusion.
	Green and open spaces will be used more intensively.

# 11.4 Appendix 4 – Recommendations for Urban Environmental Management (Gill, 2006)

- 1. Raise awareness of the environmental services provided by urban green space and their importance for climate adaptation. The creative use of the green infrastructure for climate adaptation is one of the most promising opportunities in urban areas as it provides other social, economic and environmental benefits. Awareness of the functionality of urban green space, based on robust evidence, must be raised at all levels and in all sectors, including the general public.
- 2. National guidance within policies, plans and programmes should recognise the functional importance of the green infrastructure in adapting to climate change. Within the planning system, national policy tends to favour urban densification and the use of brownfield land for new housing developments. A greater emphasis should be placed on the role of the green infrastructure in adapting to climate change within Planning Policy Statements (PPS). In particular, the proposed PPS on climate change should have a strong reference to this. Whilst the planning system is critical in ensuring adaptation to climate change via the green infrastructure, changes to the Building Regulations as well as other policies, plans and programmes, and economic instruments and mechanisms such as tax breaks, subsidies, grants, and incentives are also important. For example, within the Government's Sustainable Communities Programme it is crucial to take the opportunity to 'climate proof' new developments in the Growth Areas and to reintroduce functional green infrastructure during the redevelopment process in areas subject to Housing Market Renewal.
- 3. It is essential that the green infrastructure is strategically planned and delivered, with climate change adaptation in view, at the regional and local levels. This must be reflected in policies, plans and programmes. In particular, green infrastructure policies should be incorporated into Regional Spatial Strategies together with recommendations for the development of tiered green infrastructure strategies and plans from the regional to the local scale. Local Development Frameworks should recognise the potential of the green infrastructure in adapting to climate change within their core strategies. At this level greenspace strategies, or green infrastructure strategies, could be developed, potentially as supplementary planning documents. These strategies should be based on CABE Space's good practice guidance (CABE Space, 2004) but should go further by being explicit about the environmental services provided by urban green space, including private gardens.

**4. Strategic planning at the city-regional level is likely to be particularly effective.** Whilst much of the emphasis within the planning system is placed on the regional and local levels, the conurbation level has been highlighted as crucial for climate adaptation via the green infrastructure. At this level, greenspace strategies could be developed to create a truly functional network that crosses local authority boundaries.

Strategies firstly need to understand the environmental functionality of green space under present and future climate scenarios. Next, they should take into account the potential impacts of climate change on green space itself. They should then seek to preserve, create and enhance green space to form a functional network, ensuring that critical environmental capital is preserved absolutely, especially nodes and corridors which provide non-substitutable climate related benefits such as a city centre park or river valley flood plain. Whilst such areas merit absolute protection, beyond this there should be no net loss of green space to development. Different approaches will be required in different urban neighbourhoods. For example, it is crucial to take opportunities to create and enhance the functionality of the green infrastructure in areas of structural change and new development. Section 106 agreements can be used to require developers to support and maintain tree planting and greenspace provision, whilst programmes at the local level, such as Green Streets of the Red Rose Forest (Red Rose Forest, no date), are very important in securing street tree planting. On the other hand, the creation of Conservation Areas in lower density areas which provide key regulatory functions such as the interception and infiltration of rainfall.

5. Greenspace strategies, or green infrastructure strategies, will require a suite of complementary measures to realise the full adaptation potential of the green infrastructure, particularly in relation to the following climate related functions:

## a) Interception

Tree canopies intercept rainfall, with large mature trees being especially important. Mature trees should be maintained in urban environments using Tree Preservation Orders and new planting of tree species which will have large canopies when mature should take place. This is very important in highly built-up town centres and high density residential areas. Trees are able to exploit soil water reserves at greater depths and it should be possible to select species which can tolerate the warmer, drier summers expected with climate change.

# b) Flood conveyance and storage

River corridors and canals are especially important for conveyance of flood waters and for flood storage. Green space, which can be flooded in times of high flow, should be retained within floodplains. Selected roads could also perform a flood conveyance and storage function if required as already happens in some cities with a tropical climate. The use of SUDS for flood storage within parks is also important, and these should be sited on soils with a high infiltration potential. Excess rainwater should be stored and used to irrigate green space during drought.

## c) Infiltration

The nature of the surface cover within the built-up matrix is crucial for rainwater infiltration. This is especially true where soils have a fast infiltration rate and where the provision of green space will help to reduce surface water runoff. Conservation Areas could be created to restrict infill development in such areas and economic incentives could help to stop the gradual erosion of this functionality. The provision of SUDS could also promote infiltration, especially within parks.

#### d) Evaporative cooling

Parks provide areas where evaporative cooling is beneficial. In particular, parks of over 1 hectare have their own microclimate. Within the built matrix street trees, green roofs and vegetation on building facades also provides evaporative cooling, and key streets could be pedestrianised and greened. Irrigation must be provided during droughts to maintain this functionality, recognising that benefits go beyond amenity. A supply of water could be ensured by capturing, storing (potentially as SUDS within parks and in individual water butts) and distributing excess winter rainfall; or by using water from low quality or rising aquifers and canals. Water surfaces are very important in providing evaporative cooling, especially during drought. Maximum use should be made of any water bodies and features, for example, through the 'daylighting' of culverted rivers and canals.

#### e) Shading

Large mature tree canopies provide important shading in the built matrix for both people and buildings. The addition of street trees is especially important in town centres where there is little opportunity to create significant new green spaces, as well as in schools, hospitals and high density residential areas, which suffer from socio-economic disadvantages and a low tree cover. New tree planting should include species which will have a large canopy when mature and an ability to withstand hotter drier summers. Trees should be sited preferentially to the south, east and west of

buildings. Green roofs and vegetation on building facades can also shade buildings from sunlight. Shading is important within parks for human comfort, and the role of trees in providing shade is invaluable during droughts.

# 6. Faced with the challenge of climate change and recognising the multifunctional benefits of the green infrastructure there is a case for an organisation such as CABE Space to develop and promote a greenspace charter which will require:

- Critical environmental capital, where greenspace assets have a demonstrable level of climate functionality, to be protected absolutely. This includes town centre parks, flood plains, and areas of lower density settlement where the soil has a high infiltration capacity;
- No net loss of greenspace cover;
- Creative greening to enhance greenspace cover. Particular attention should be given to the
  public realm in town centres to ensure a sufficient range and quality for human comfort, and to
  new planting in locations where a low greenspace cover combines with socio-economic
  deprivation and/or human vulnerability;
- Opportunities to be taken to improve levels of greenspace provision during urban restructuring and new developments;

Innovative measures to secure an alternative water supply to sustain the functionality of green space during times of drought.